
 

Language, visual, hearing and transportation services are available at meetings upon request. For 
requests, please call DART at 515.283.8100 at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting. 

NOTICE OF COMMISSION MEETING AND AGENDA 
DES MOINES AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 
DART MULTIMODAL ROOM, 620 CHERRY STREET/ZOOM 
DIAL IN - +1-312-626-6799/ACCESS CODE – 884 4237 6582/PASSCODE - 590626 
JANUARY 3, 2023 – 12:00 PM 

  PAGE # 
1. CALL TO ORDER   
2. ROLL CALL AND ESTABLISHMENT OF QUORUM  
3. NOTICE OF MEETING  
4. APPROVAL OF JANUARY 3, 2023, AGENDA  
5. DART COMMISSION OFFICER ELECTION           2 
6. PUBLIC COMMENT (Limit 3 minutes)   
7. CONSENT ITEMS   

 A. Commission Meeting Minutes – December 6, 2022  3 
 B. 2023 DART Commission Weighted Voting   8 
 C. FTA FY2023 Buses and Bus Facilities Grants Program Application 10 
 D. Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan Update 11 
 E. New TRAC Members Approval 80 
 F. Interim CEO Signing Authority 82 
 G. November 2022 Consolidated Financial Report  83 

8. PRESENTATION  
 A. Cornerstone State Legislative Update 85 

9. ACTION ITEMS  
 A. 2023 State Legislative Priorities  86 
 B. Executive Search Firm Contract  88 
 C. DART Strategic Plan 90 
 D. February 2023 Service Change  91 

10.     DISCUSSION ITEMS  
 A. FY 2024 DART Budget Update  92 
 B. Paratransit Public Input Update 93 
 C. Performance Report – November 2022 94 

  11.       DEPARTMENTAL MONTHLY REPORTS (BY EXCEPTION)  
 A. Operations  99 
 B. Planning  101 
 C. External Affairs (Including State and Federal Legislative Updates)  102 
 D. Finance/IT/Procurement   105 
 E. Human Resources  108 
 F. Chief Executive Officer  109 

12.   FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 110 
13. COMMISSIONER ITEMS   

 A. FY 2024 Commission Budget Workshop – Tuesday, January 24, 2023 – 12:00 P.M.  
14. NEXT MEETING:  Regular DART Meeting - Tuesday, February 7, 2023 – 12:00 P.M   
15.  ADJOURN 

 

https://ridedart.zoom.us/j/88442376582?pwd=M29lRG1GcEI1R0RKU2pRRjdiZ045Zz09&from=addon
https://ridedart.zoom.us/j/88442376582?pwd=M29lRG1GcEI1R0RKU2pRRjdiZ045Zz09&from=addon


ACTION ITEM 

5: DART Commission Officer Election 

Staff Resource: Vicky Barr, DART Executive Coordinator and Commission Clerk 

Rules Governing Commission Officer Elections: 

• Based on the Substituted and Restated DART 28E agreement that commenced on October 1,
2017 and the proposed Restated Bylaws the officer elections should be conducted based on
the following:

o The Nominating Committee should nominate for the Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary/Treasurer
and two At-Large positions.

o Each officer must be from a different member community.

o Each officer is elected to serve until the next annual meeting (January 2024).

o Each office shall be elected for a one (1) year term, with a possible second term available.

o Commission alternates are not eligible to serve as officers.

o The Nominating Committee shall offer nominations for each office at the meeting.

o Nominations for each office shall also be accepted from any Commissioner present at the
meeting.

o All nominees, including those offered by the Nominating Committee, must receive a
second in order to be considered a candidate and voted on for office.

Nominations Received and Seconded: 

• The Nominating Committee, which consisted of Commissioner Trimble, Commissioner
Borcherding and Commissioner Willey, will share the proposed executive committee slate at
the January 2023 meeting.

• Nominations shall also be accepted from the Commissioners present at the meeting.

• Once all nominations have been received, the Commission Chair will ask for the nominations
to be seconded.

Vote: 

• The Commissioners present shall vote on each officer position.

• The newly elected officers will assume their roles upon being elected.

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 2



DES MOINES AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 
COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 
MEETING HOSTED IN-PERSON AND VIRTUALLY 
620 CHERRY STREET – DES MOINES, IOWA  50309 
DECEMBER 6, 2022 
 
(Meeting was held in a hybrid format) 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Commissioners/Alternates Present and Voting:  
 
Vern Willey, Kelly Stearns (arrived at 1.10pm), Marketa Oliver, Michael McCoy, Josh Mandelbaum, 
Andrew Borcherding, Paula Dierenfeld, Ross Grooters, Steve Van Oort, Bridget Montgomery, Russ 
Trimble, and Joseph Jones (arrived at 12.08pm) 
 
Other Commissioners/Alternates Present: 
 
Scott Henry 
 
Commissioners Absent: 
 
Doug Elrod 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Vice Chair, Josh Mandelbaum called the meeting to order at 12:00 p.m. Roll call was taken, and 
a quorum was present. 
 
Notice of the meeting was duly published. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Vice Chair, Josh Mandelbaum requested a motion to approve the agenda as presented. 
 
It was moved by Michael McCoy and seconded by Russ Trimble to approve the December 6, 
2022, agenda. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Garland Armstrong of Des Moines shared the importance of fire training for DART Operators and 
staff and enquired as to whether DART has any Holiday buses. Elizabeth Presutti, CEO provided an 
update on current and ongoing fire and safety training occurring with DART staff and shared that 
our D-Line usually has the Holiday light bus on it. 
 
Heather Armstrong of Des Moines shared her concerns of DART Operators working mandatory 
overtime. Vice Chair, Josh Mandelbaum explained that the Commission is taking steps to avoid 
overtime and will continue to do so and thanked Ms. Armstrong for her comments.  
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 3



DES MOINES AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 
COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – DECEMBER 6, 2022 
 
TRANSIT RIDERS ADVISORY COMMITTEE (TRAC) UPDATE 
 
Due to time, Vice Chair, Josh Mandelbaum asked the Commission to refer to the TRAC Information 
that was provided in the packets.  
 
CONSENT ITEMS 
 
7A – Commission Meeting Minutes – November 1, 2022 
 
7B – Des Moines Area MPO and CIRTPA Staff Representation for DART 
 
7C – TRAC By-Laws 
 
7D – Financial Audit Services Contract Amendment 
 
7E – IT Storage Hardware Replacement 
 
7F – October 2022 Financials  
 
It was moved by Russ Trimble and seconded by Marketa Oliver to approve the consent items. The 
motion carried unanimously.   
 
ACTION ITEMS: 
 
8A – Chief Executive Officer (CEO) Transition Plan  
 
Elizabeth Presutti, Chief Executive Officer provided a brief background on the need for a CEO 
transition plan and identified that the plan has been developed to ensure DART continues to 
provide the highest level of service during the search for a new CEO, and to ensure the transit 
system obtains the most qualified candidate to fill the vacant position. The transition plan was 
identified, including appointing Sheri Kyras, the interim CEO, conducting a national search for a 
new CEO and arrangement with the existing/former CEO to ensure a smooth transition.  Paul Drey, 
DART Legal Counsel discussed the details of the interim CEO’s agreement and the amendment 
details to the current CEO’s contract. 
 
It was moved by Russ Trimble and seconded by Vern Willey to approve the proposed CEO 
Transition Plan, as presented and to approve the proposed CEO Search Committee Charter as 
presented. The approval for the interim CEO agreement will be subject to directing DART’s Legal 
Counsel to amend the proposed interim CEO agreement for Sheri Kyras to include a reasonable 
cap for the hours worked during the overlap period between the current CEO and the interim 
CEO with the understanding that if the cap needs to be adjusted for any reason, approval can 
be given by the DART Executive Committee. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
8B – CEO Search Committee Members and Charter 
 
Elizabeth Presutti, Chief Executive shared that with her departure the DART Commission will need 
to work through a process to find a new CEO and given the time and effort needed for this process 
the DART Executive Committee is recommending the formation of a CEO Search Committee to 
work through the search process with an Executive Search Firm. The DART Commissioners that will 
serve on this committee were shared; Josh Mandelbaum – Des Moines (Committee Chair), Kelly 
Stearns - Ankeny (Committee Vice Chair), Bridget Montgomery - Urbandale, Joseph Jones – 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 4



DES MOINES AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 
COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – DECEMBER 6, 2022 
 
Windsor Heights, and Paula Dierenfeld - Johnston. In addition, a proposed Charter for the CEO 
Search Committee was included in the packet and discussed, specifically outlining the 
Committee duties and when it is necessary to seek recommendations/approvals from the full DART 
Commission. 
 
It was moved by Russ Trimble and seconded by Ross Grooters to approve the establishment of a 
CEO Search Committee per the membership discussed and approve the proposed CEO Search 
Committee Charter as presented. The motion carried unanimously.  
 
DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
9A – FY 2024 DART Budget Development Update  
 
Amber Dakan, Finance Manager provided an update regarding DART’s upcoming FY 2024 
budget development. 
 
9B – DART Alternative Funding Advisory Committee Update 
 
Erin Hockman, Chief External Affairs Officer provided an update on the recent DART Funding 
Advisory Committee meeting and thanking Commissioners Dierenfeld, Stearns and Van Oort for 
their time and participation on the Committee. 
 
9C – February Service Change 
 
Tony Filippini, Planning and Development Manager provided an overview on the proposed minor 
modifications to the fixed route schedules, planned for the February service change. 
 
9D – Performance Report – October 2022 
 
Due to time, Vice Chair, Josh Mandelbaum asked the Commission to refer to the information 
provided in the packets.  
 
DEPARTMENTAL MONTHLY REPORTS (BY EXCEPTION)  
 
10A - Operations 
 
Brandon Smiley, Chief Operations Officer provided a brief update on a recent Fixed Route 
Operator who retired after 37 years of service at DART. 
 
10B – Planning 
 
None 
 
10C - External Affairs 
 
 
10D – Finance/IT/Procurement 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 5



DES MOINES AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 
COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – DECEMBER 6, 2022 
 
None 
 
10E – Human Resources 
 
None 
10F – Chief Executive Officer  
 
None 
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
 
None 
 
COMMISSIONER ITEMS 
 
12A – Nominating Committee Update 
 
Commissioner Andrew Borcherding member of the DART Nominating Committee updated the 
Commission on the proposed Officer slate for 2023 and advised that the Commission will take a 
vote for Officers at the January meeting.  
 
Josh Mandelbaum, Vice Chair recognized and thanked Elizabeth Presutti for her service at DART 
the last 14 years and presented her with an award.  
 
NEXT MEETING:   
 
Regular DART Meeting - Tuesday, January 3, 2023 – 12:00 P.M. 
 
ADJOURN 
 
It was moved by Michael McCoy and seconded by Marketa Oliver to adjourn the regular meeting 
at 1:39 p.m. The motion carried unanimously.  
 
***OFFICIAL NOTICE OF THE NEXT DART COMMISSION MEETING DATE IS HEREBY PUBLISHED:  
The next regular DART monthly Commission Meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, January 3, 2023, 
at 12:00 p.m. in the DART Multimodal Room at 620 Cherry Street, Des Moines, Iowa.  Pursuant to 
Iowa Code section 21.8, the DART Commission has determined that it is still impractical or 
impossible to require all Commission members, staff, and the public to be physically present for 
this Commission meeting.  Accordingly, both in-person and virtual options for attendance of the 
January 3, 2023 Commission meeting will be offered as follows:  (1) Commission members, staff, 
and the public will be allowed to attend this Commission meeting in person in the DART 
Multimodal Room at 620 Cherry Street, Des Moines, Iowa; and (2) Commission members, staff, 
and the public will be allowed to attend this Commission meeting via a virtual platform such as 
Zoom.  Participation directions for such virtual meeting option are as follows:  
https://ridedart.zoom.us/j/88442376582?pwd=M29lRG1GcEI1R0RKU2pRRjdiZ045Zz09&from=addon
Meeting ID: 884 4237 6582 Passcode: 590626 
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 6

https://ridedart.zoom.us/j/88442376582?pwd=M29lRG1GcEI1R0RKU2pRRjdiZ045Zz09&from=addon
https://ridedart.zoom.us/j/88442376582?pwd=M29lRG1GcEI1R0RKU2pRRjdiZ045Zz09&from=addon


DES MOINES AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY 
COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – DECEMBER 6, 2022 
 
 
 
               
Chair       Clerk 
 
 
            
Date 
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 7



CONSENT ITEM 
 

7B: 2023 DART Commission Weighted Voting   

Action: Approve the 2023 weighted votes for each DART participating 
community   

Staff Resource: Elizabeth Presutti, Chief Executive Officer 

Background: 

• Per the restated DART 28E agreement, the following procedures are required for a weighted 
vote. 

o Any Participating Community represented at that meeting may request a population 
weighted vote on matters regarding: (1) the DART budget, (2) funding, (3) transit service 
levels, or (4) composition of the Commission, whereupon the vote on that item will 
automatically be continued to the next regularly scheduled or specially called meeting 
of the Commission, and notice of the impending population weighted vote will be given 
in the agenda for that meeting, unless notice of the request for such weighted vote has 
been given to the Chair of the Commission by the requesting Participating Community at 
least seven (7) days prior to the date of the scheduled meeting. At such meeting, if a 
quorum is present, the decision on the question that is the subject of the population 
weighted vote shall be determined by a vote of at least three-fourths (3/4) of the votes 
of the members present at such meeting. Each Participating Community shall make its 
vote during a called weighted vote by and through its elected official member on the 
Commission from said Participating Community. 

o Upon Commission approval of the population data and proportional assignments to 
Commission representatives, such populations and proportional assignments shall be 
binding on all Participating Communities. For each 25,000 in population or portion 
thereof a Participating Community shall be awarded one (1) vote when a population 
weighted vote of the Commission is called. Where the Participating Community is a 
county, such population shall be that of the unincorporated portion of the county. 

 
 

Current MPO Assessment Population Numbers and Resulting Weighted Vote: 

Name FY 2022 MPO 
Population 

Population 
per 25,000 

Weighted Vote  
25,000 

 
 

Altoona          20,705  0.83 1  

Ankeny          70,287  2.81 3  

Bondurant            8,035  0.32 1  

Clive          18,814  0.75 1  

Des Moines       212,031  8.48 9  

Grimes          15,949  0.64 1  

Johnston          24,195  0.97 1  

Pleasant Hill          10,860  0.43 1  

Urbandale          45,923  1.84 2  

West Des Moines          69,792  2.79 3  

Windsor Heights            5,170  0.21 1  

Polk County (MPO unincorp)          22,422  0.90 1  

Total 524,183 25  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 8



CONSENT ITEM 
7B: 2023 DART Commission Weighted Voting   
 
Recommendation: 

• Approve the 2023 weighted votes for each DART participating community. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 9



CONSENT ITEM 
 

7C: FTA Buses and Bus Facilities Grants Program Application 

Action: 
Approve staff to submit a grant application to the FTA Buses and Bus 
Facility Grant Program to fund the second phase of construction of a 
new Bus Operations and Maintenance Facility 

Staff Resource: Mike Tiedens, Grants Program Administrator 

Background: 

• The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) administers a grant program called “Bus and Bus 
Facilities” that supports transit system’s major bus and facility purchases with up to 80% 
funding, if selected nationally for award.  This is a competitive grant program with more 
requests than funding; however, replacement of DART’s Operations and Maintenance 
Facility’s age and condition make it a good candidate for this funding. 

• Very shortly, the FTA is expected to announce the opportunity to apply for Grants for the 
Buses and Bus Facilities Program. In 2022, the available funding was $372 million. Grant 
applications are typically due about 90 days from the Notice of Funding Opportunity 
(NOFO), so we expect that date to be around the middle or end of March, 2023. 

• As required by federal transit law and subject to funding availability, funds will be awarded 
competitively to assist in the financing of capital projects to replace, rehabilitate, purchase 
or lease buses and related equipment, and to rehabilitate, purchase, construct, or lease bus-
related facilities.   

• Staff is requesting permission to submit a grant application requesting between $33 and $45 
million for the second phase of construction of a new Bus Operations and Maintenance 
Facility.  The specific federal dollar request will be included in February or March’s 
Departmental Monthly Report after consultation with DART’s Lobbyist.  

• The Bus and Bus Facilities grant program previously awarded DART $17.275 million in 2019 
toward Phase I facility construction.  

Recommendation: 

• Approve staff to submit a grant application to the FTA Buses and Bus Facility Grant Program 
to fund the second phase of construction of a new Bus Operations and Maintenance 
Facility. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 10



 CONSENT ITEM 
 

7D: Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan  

Action: Approve the FY 2023 Review of DART’s the Public Transportation 
Agency Safety Plan. 

 
Staff Resource: Pat Daly, DART Safety Manager 
 
Background: 

• On December 1, 2020, the DART Commission approved its Public Transportation Agency Safety 
Plan (ASP), as required by the FTA. 

• A requirement of the ASP is an annual review and update and governing body approval.  
 
• A new requirement this year is that the DART Safety Committee approve changes to the ASP 

before it is sent for Commission approval.  The DART Safety Committee approved the updated 
version of the ASP on November 30, 2022. 
 

Changes and Additions to the ASP: 

• The changes and additions to the ASP are: 

o Updated safety performance metrics for FY 2023 and included results of safety 
performance metrics for FY 2022.  Added description of method used to determine the 
safety performance metrics  

o Update the date for transmitting SPT’s to the MPO and Iowa DOT. 

o Added section regarding Risk Reduction Targets 

o Changed Transportation manager to Fixed Route and Mobility Services managers in the 
Responsibilities Summary matrix and added anonymous reporting method to employee 
safety reporting program. 

o Added safety committee activities.  

o Added driver’s license review to HR department activities.  

o Added “assist HR department with FTA random drug and alcohol testing program to 
Transportation department activities.   

o Added responsibility for FTA Drug and Alcohol program to CHRO and Human Resources 
responsibilities along with monitoring FTA Drug and Alcohol compliance of DART 
contractors.  

o Added sections on risk reduction and infectious disease programs. 

o Added de-escalation training to All Employee Training and outlined the positions required 
to be provided that training. 

o Other minor wording changes throughout the document 
 
Recommendation: 

• Approve DART’s FY 2023 Agency Safety Plan review and changes. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 11



 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   i | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION 

AGENCY SAFETY PLAN 

Submitted by:  
 

Des Moines  
Area Regional  

Transit Authority 
 

Recipient ID: 1831 
 
 

Submitted to: 
 

Federal Transit Administration 
Region 7 

 
 

January 3, 2023 
Version 3  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 12



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan 
   

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   i | P a g e  
 

 
Plan Development, Approval, and Updates 
 
Name of Entity or Individual that Drafted This Plan 
 
 Patrick Daly, DART Safety Manager 
 
Signature of Accountable Executive 
 
 Elizabeth Presutti, DART Chief Executive Officer:         
  
DART Commission Approval   
 
 Commission Meeting Date of Approval:     January 3, 2023 
 
  

 

  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 13



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

 
J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   ii | P a g e  
 

Version Number and Updates 
Record the complete history of successive versions of this plan. 

Version 
Number 

Section/Pages 
Affected Reason for Change Date Issued 

1       Original December 2020 

2 

5 
 
 

6-7 
 
 

52 

Updated month for when annual update of the 
PTASP will be completed 

Updated safety performance metrics for FY 2022 
and included results of safety performance metrics 
for FY 2021 

Updated with current organizational chart  

Other minor wording changes throughout the 
document 
 

January 2022 

3 

4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 

 

 

 

6 

 

 

7 

 

Updated safety performance metrics for FY 2023 
and included results of safety performance metrics 
for FY 2022.  Added description of method used to 
determine the safety performance metrics. 

Updated the date for transmitting SPT’s to the MPO 
and Iowa DOT. 

Added section regarding Risk Reduction Targets 

Changed Transportation manager to Fixed Route 
and Mobility Services managers in the 
Responsibilities Summary matrix and added 
anonymous reporting method to employee safety 
reporting program. 

Added safety committee activities. Added driver’s 
license review to HR department activities.  Added 
“assist HR department with FTA random drug and 
alcohol testing program to Transportation 
department activities.  Added FTA Drug and Alcohol 
program responsibilities to CHRO and Human 
Resources.  

Added sections on risk reduction and infectious 
disease programs.  

Added de-escalation training to All Employee 
Training and outlined the positions required to be 
provided that training  

 Other minor wording changes throughout the 
document 

January 2023 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 14



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

 
J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   iii | P a g e  
 

 
Table of Contents 

 
Signature of Accountable Executive ......................................................................................................... i 
DART Commission Approval ....................................................................................................................... i 
Abbreviations ............................................................................................................................................. vi 
Definitions ................................................................................................................................................... viii 
1. Organizational Overview................................................................................................................. 1 
2. Agency Safety Plan Goals and Objectives ................................................................................... 2 
3. Annual Review and Update ............................................................................................................ 5 
4. Safety Performance Targets ............................................................................................................ 6 
5. Safety Performance Target Coordination ...................................................................................... 8 
6. Safety Management Policy ............................................................................................................. 9 

6.1. Safety Management Policy Statement.................................................................................... 9 
6.2. Safety Management Policy Communication ....................................................................... 11 
6.3. Authorities, Accountabilities and Responsibilities ................................................................. 12 

6.3.1. Overview of DART Organizational Structure .................................................................. 12 
6.3.2. Accountable Executive, Chief Executive Officer (CEO) ............................................. 12 
6.3.3. Chief Human Resources Officer (CHRO) ....................................................................... 12 
6.3.4. Deputy CEO and Chief Operations Officer (COO) ...................................................... 12 
6.3.5. Safety Manager ................................................................................................................ 13 
6.3.6. Safety and Training Specialist .......................................................................................... 14 
6.3.7. DART Management .......................................................................................................... 15 
6.3.8. DART Operations and Maintenance Supervisors .......................................................... 15 
6.3.9. All DART Employees .......................................................................................................... 16 
6.3.10. Responsibilities Summary .............................................................................................. 17 

6.4. Employee Safe Reporting Program ........................................................................................ 18 
6.5. Emergency Management and Local Coordination ............................................................ 18 

6.5.1. Emergency Management ............................................................................................... 18 
6.5.2. Coordination with External Agencies ............................................................................. 20 
6.5.3. Emergency Preparedness Planning ............................................................................... 20 
6.5.4. Emergency Drills ................................................................................................................ 20 
6.5.5. Implementation of Findings ............................................................................................. 20 
6.5.6. Emergency Familiarization ............................................................................................... 21 
6.5.7. Emergency Preparedness Training ................................................................................. 21 
6.5.8. Emergency Preparedness Exercises ............................................................................... 22 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 15



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

 
J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   iv | P a g e  
 

6.5.9. Emergency Response Training ........................................................................................ 22 
7. Safety Risk Management ............................................................................................................... 23 

7.1. Safety Risk Management Process ........................................................................................... 23 
7.1.1. Safety Department Activities ........................................................................................... 23 
7.1.2. General Safety Related Activities ................................................................................... 25 
7.1.3. Planning Department Activities ...................................................................................... 25 
7.1.4. IT Department Activities ................................................................................................... 26 
7.1.5. External Affairs Department Activities ............................................................................ 27 
7.1.6. Human Resources Department Activities ...................................................................... 27 
7.1.7. Procurement Department Activities ............................................................................... 28 
7.1.8. Executive Leadership Team Activities ............................................................................ 28 
7.1.9. Transportation Operations Activities ............................................................................... 29 
7.1.10. Facility Maintenance Activities ................................................................................... 30 
7.1.11. Vehicle Maintenance Department Activities ........................................................... 30 
7.1.12. Risk Management Activities ........................................................................................ 31 
7.1.13. Security Activities .......................................................................................................... 31 
7.1.14. Labor & Employee Relations Activities ....................................................................... 31 

7.2. Safety Hazard Identification, Assessment, and Mitigation .................................................. 32 
7.2.1. Hazard Identification and Analysis ................................................................................. 33 

8. Safety Assurance ............................................................................................................................ 41 
8.1. Rules and Procedures Review ................................................................................................. 41 

8.1.1. Safety Related Operations and Maintenance Documents ........................................ 41 
8.1.2. Rule Books .......................................................................................................................... 41 
8.1.3. Proficiency Testing – Operators ....................................................................................... 41 
8.1.4. Proficiency Testing Test Records and Trend Analysis .................................................... 41 
8.1.5. Transit Asset Management .............................................................................................. 42 

8.2. Notification Thresholds ............................................................................................................. 42 
8.2.1. State and Federal Notification ........................................................................................ 42 
8.2.2. Safety Department Notifications .................................................................................... 43 
8.2.3. Accident Investigation, Notification, Reporting and Corrective Action Plans ......... 43 

8.3. Internal Safety Audit Program ................................................................................................. 43 
8.4. Procurement and System Modifications ................................................................................ 43 

8.4.1. Contractor Safety Coordination ..................................................................................... 45 
9. Safety Promotion............................................................................................................................. 46 

9.1. Training ....................................................................................................................................... 46 
9.1.1. Bus Operator Training ....................................................................................................... 47 
9.1.2. Bus Maintenance Technician Training ........................................................................... 47 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 16



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

 
J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   v | P a g e  
 

9.1.3. All Employee Training ....................................................................................................... 47 
9.1.4. Training Records ................................................................................................................ 48 
9.1.5. Compliance with Training and Certification Requirements ........................................ 49 
9.1.6. Compliance with Local, State, and Federal Safety Requirements ............................ 49 

9.2. Safety Communication ............................................................................................................ 51 
9.2.1. Marketing and Media Relations Tasks ............................................................................ 51 
9.2.2. Maintenance Toolbox Talks ............................................................................................. 51 
9.2.3. Safety Bulletins ................................................................................................................... 52 
9.2.4. Break Room Monitors ........................................................................................................ 52 
9.2.5. Safety Posters ..................................................................................................................... 52 
9.2.6. Work Assignment Job Safety Briefings ............................................................................ 52 
9.2.7. Safety Awareness .............................................................................................................. 52 
9.2.8. Safety Performance Awards ........................................................................................... 52 
9.2.9. Hazard, Employee Safe Reporting, and Safety Suggestion Box Feedback .............. 53 

Appendix A – DART Organization Chart ................................................................................................. 58 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 17



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

 
J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   vi | P a g e  
 

Abbreviations 
 
AARs After Action Reports 
ADA Americans with Disabilities Act 
APTA American Public Transportation Association 
ASP Agency Safety Plan – shortened version of PTASP 
CAP Corrective Action Plan 
CEO Chief Executive Officer 
CFR Code of Federal Regulations 
CHRO Chief Human Resources Officer 
COO Chief Operations Officer 
DART Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
DMPS Des Moines Public Schools 
DR DO Demand Response – Directly Operated 
DT PT Demand Response Taxi – Purchased Transportation 
EAP Employee Assistance Program 
EOC Emergency Operations Center 
EOP Emergency Operations Plan 
ERP Emergency Response Plan 
ERT Emergency Response Team 
FEMA Federal Emergency Management Agency 
FMLA Family and Medical Leave Act 
FTA Federal Transit Authority 
HESSP Homeland Security Exercise and Evaluation Program 
HSPDs Homeland Security Presidential Directives 
IC Incident Command 
ICS Incident Command System 
IHR Initial Hazard Rating 
IOWA DOT Iowa Department of Transportation 
JHA Job Hazard Analysis 
MB DO Motor Bus – Directly Operated 
MPO 
NACTO 

Metropolitan Planning Organization 
National Association of City Transportation Officials 

NIMS National Incident Management System 
NIPP National Infrastructure Protection Plan 
NTD National Transit Database 
NTSB National Transportation Safety Board 
OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
POC Point of Contact 
PTASP Public Transportation Agency Safe Plan 
SDS Safety Data Sheets 
SMS Safety Management System 
SOP Standard Operating Procedure 
VP DO Van Pool – Directly Operated 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 18



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   vii | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
This Page Intentionally Left Blank 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 19



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   viii | P a g e  
 

Definitions 
  
Accident - An event that involves any of the following: a loss of life; a report of a serious injury to 
a person; a collision of public transportation vehicles; an evacuation for life safety reasons. 

Accountable Executive - A single, identifiable person who has ultimate responsibility for carryout 
out the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan of a public transportation agency; 
responsibility for carrying out the agency’s Transit Asset Management Plan; and control or 
direction over the human and capital resources needed to develop and maintain both the 
agency’s Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan, in accordance with 49 U.S.C. 5329(d), and 
the agency’s Transit Asset Management Plan in accordance with 49 U.S.C. 5326.  

Equivalent Authority - An entity that carries out duties similar to that of a Board of Directors, for a 
recipient or subrecipient of FTA funds under 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53, including sufficient authority to 
review and approve a recipient or subrecipient’s Public Transportation Safety Plan.  

Event - Any Accident, Incident, or Occurrence.  

FTA - The Federal Transit Administration, and operating administration within the United States 
Department of Transportation.  

Hazard - Any real or potential condition that can cause injury, illness, or death; damage to or 
loss of the facilities, equipment, rolling stock, or infrastructure of a public transportation system; or 
damage to the environment.  

Incident - An event that involves any of the following: A personal injury that is not a serious injury; 
one or more injuries requiring medical transport; or damage to facilities, equipment, rolling stock, 
or infrastructure that disrupts the operations of a transit agency.  

Investigation - The process of determining the causal and contributing factors of an accident, 
incident, or hazard, for the purpose of preventing recurrence and mitigating risk.  

National Public Transportation Safety Plan - The plan to improve the safety of all public 
transportation systems that receive Federal financial assistance under 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53.  

Occurrence - An Event without any personal injury in which any damage to facilities, 
equipment, rolling stock, or infrastructure does not disrupt the operations of a transit agency.  

Operator of a public transportation system - A provider of transportation as defined under 49 
U.S.C. 5302(14).  

Performance measure - An expression based on a quantifiable indicator of performance or 
condition that is used to establish targets and to assess progress towards meeting the established 
targets.  

Performance target - A quantifiable level of performance or condition, expressed as a value for 
the measure, to be achieved within a time period required by the Federal Transit Administration 
(FTA).  

Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan - The documented comprehensive agency safety plan 
for a transit agency that is required by 49 U.S.C. 5329 and this part (673.5).  

Public Transportation Safety Certification Training Program - Either the certification training 
program for Federal and State employees, or other designated personnel, who conduct safety 
audits and examinations of public transportation systems, and employees of public 
transportation agencies directly responsible for safety oversight, established through interim 
provisions in accordance with 49 U.S.C. 5329(c ) (2), or the program authorized by 49 U.S.C. 5339 
(c )(1).  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 20



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   ix | P a g e  
 

Risk - The composite of predicted severity and likelihood of the potential effect of a hazard.  

Risk mitigation - A method or methods to eliminate or reduce the effects of hazards.  

Safety Assurance - Processes within a transit agency’s Safety Management System that 
functions to ensure the implementation and effectiveness of safety risk mitigation, and to ensure 
that the transit agency meets or exceeds its safety objectives through the collection, analysis, 
and assessment of information.  

Safety Management Policy - A transit agency’s documented commitment to safety, which 
defines the transit agency’s safety objectives and the accountabilities and responsibilities of its 
employees in regard to safety.  

Safety Management System (SMS) - The formal, top-down, organization-wide approach to 
managing safety risk and assuring the effectiveness of a transit agency’s safety risk mitigation. 
SMS includes systemic procedures, practices, and policies for managing risks and hazards.  

Safety Management System (SMS) Executive - the Chief Safety Officer or an equivalent.  

Safety Performance Target - A Performance Target related to safety management activities.  

Safety Promotion - A combination of training and communication of safety information to 
support SMS as applied to the transit agency’s public transportation system.  

Safety Risk Assessment - The formal activity whereby a transit agency determines Safety Risk 
Management priorities by establishing the significance or value of its safety risks.  

Safety Risk Management - A process within a transit agency’s Public Transportation Agency 
Safety Plan for identifying hazards and analyzing, assessing, and mitigating safety risk.  

Serious injury - Any injury which: (1) requires hospitalization for more than 48 hours, commencing 
within 7 days from the date the injury was received; (2) Results in a fracture of any bone (except 
simple fractures of fingers, toes, or noses); (3) Causes severe hemorrhage, nerve, muscle, or 
tendon damage; (4) Involves any internal organ; or (5) Involves second- or third-degree burns, or 
any burns affecting more than 5 percent of the body surface.  

Small Public Transportation Provider - A recipient or subrecipient of Federal financial assistance 
under 49 U.S.C. 5307 that has one hundred (100) or fewer vehicles in peak revenue service and 
does not operated a railed fixed guideway public transportation system.  

State - A State of the United States, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, the Northern Mariana 
Islands, Guam, American Samoa, and the Virgin Islands.  

State of Good Repair - The condition in which a capital asset is able to operate at a full level of 
performance.  

State Safety Oversight Agency - An agency established by a State that meets the requirements 
and performs the functions specified by 49 U.S.C. 5329€ and the regulations set forth in 49 CFR 
Part 674.  

Transit Agency - An operator of a public transportation system.  

Transit Asset Management Plan - The strategic and systematic practice of procuring, operating, 
inspecting, maintaining, rehabilitating, and replacing transit capital assets to manage their 
performance, risks, and costs over their life cycles, for the purpose of providing safe, cost-
effective, and reliable public transportation, as required by 49 U.S.C. 5326 and 49 CFR part 625. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 21



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   1 | P a g e  
 

1. Organizational Overview 
 
The Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority (DART) is the transportation resource for the 
Greater Des Moines region, offering the largest network of buses in the State of Iowa as well as 
resources for those who vanpool, walk or bike. The Greater Des Moines region has changed 
dramatically in recent decades with a growing reputation and vision for competing on a global 
level.  A significant part of our community's ability to compete is tied to the workforce, 
infrastructure, and economic vitality. 
 
Transportation is a critical component of a region's competitiveness - vibrant, growing 
communities have strong public transit systems at the heart of their infrastructure to connect 
citizens with jobs, education, shopping and more. The DART Commission and staff have worked 
diligently to improve the regional transit system since it was formed in 2006. In October 2017, 
DART's governance structure was reconstituted to establish a Board of Commissioners with one 
representative for each of its member governments. 
 
DART's current member governments include Altoona, Ankeny, Bondurant, Clive, Des Moines, 
Grimes, Johnston, Pleasant Hill, unincorporated Polk County, Urbandale, West Des Moines, and 
Windsor Heights. 
 
Approximately 4.5 million rides per year were provided on DART’s fixed route, paratransit, and 
vanpool services prior to the pandemic. DART has a fleet of 139 fixed route, on-call, and 
paratransit vehicles and  91 rideshare vans.  DART provides its services from one transit hub, one 
operations and maintenance facility, 1,780 bus stops, more than 20 Park and Ride locations, and 
33 bus stop shelters.  
 
DART’s administrative offices and transit hub are located at 620 Cherry St, Des Moines, Iowa 
50309, and its operations and maintenance facility is located at 1100 Dart Way, Des Moines, 
Iowa 50309. 
 
DART is funded by a combination of local property taxes, public-private partnerships, fares, a 
variety of grants, and FTA programs, including 5307, 5310, 5311, and 5339.  
 
DART partners with the Des Moines Public School (DMPS) system to assist with transportation 
needs of middle and high school students.  Service consists of additional morning and afternoon 
trippers that are open to the public and serve DMPS middle and high schools.  In addition to 
transporting students to and from school, DART contracts with the district to provide free rides to 
all DMPS middle and high school students, with a valid student ID, after 4:30 p.m. on school days 
and all-day during weekends, holidays, and whenever school is not in session.   

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 22



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   2 | P a g e  
 

2. Agency Safety Plan Goals and Objectives 
 
The DART Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan (ASP) establishes formal structure and 
processes to be used by DART to identify, assess, track, control, minimize, and resolve hazards 
associated with DART bus service delivery. The ASP will be used as a means of preventing injuries, 
incidents, system disruption, accidents, environmental damage, and other losses.  
 
The ASP also demonstrates DART’s commitment to safety and compliance through loss 
prevention programs.  Furthermore, the ASP applies to the planning, design, procurement, 
construction, operations, and maintenance functions of the DART bus system. The ASP is 
approved by the DART Commission and implemented by the Safety Manager under the Chief 
Executive Officer.  
 
DART’s ASP addresses all applicable requirements and standards as set forth in FTA’s Public 
Transportation Safety Program and the National Public Transportation Safety Plan.  In addition, 
DART embraces and participates with the Iowa Department of Transportation in achieving the 
statewide goal of zero traffic fatalities. 
 
The focus in the development of the DART ASP is to provide safe and reliable movement of 
passengers throughout the transit system. The passengers and the general public must be 
confident that the DART transit system is a safe system. To achieve this, it is necessary to design, 
construct and maintain a system that is free from recognized hazards with the safety of 
passengers and the general public in mind. DART’s objectives will be met by drawing information 
from system observation, local and state codes, federal guidelines, and specific DART 
requirements into a unified document to ensure a safe transportation system. 
 
The goal of DART's ASP is to utilize and achieve the highest practical level of safety in order to 
protect passengers, employees, emergency responders, contractors, invitees, and property. At 
a minimum, the ASP ensures the following processes are incorporated into DART's system safety 
programs, plans, processes, and practices to achieve its goals to: 

 Identify hazards or undesired events by examining historical data, causes, and 
contributing factors. 

 Provide a level of safety that is consistent with transit bus standards. 

 Assess risks by balancing the potential frequency of a hazard occurring against the 
severity of the event and quantify the event into acceptable or unacceptable 
categories. 

 Eliminate, mitigate, or control unacceptable or undesirable hazards to acceptable 
levels. 

 Determine if DART's goals and objectives were achieved. 

 Monitor hazard resolution effectiveness and determine if there are unexpected hazards. 

 Comply with federal, state, and local rules and regulations. 

 Continually improve and evaluate system safety design. 

 Ensure that all customers perceive the system is safe and secure by maintaining a high 
level of safety comparable to other transit systems as measured by maintaining a good 
safety record, and by maintaining the system in a state of good repair. 
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 23



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   3 | P a g e  
 

The Chief Executive Officer along with the Safety Manager, the Chief Human Resources Officer 
and Chief Operating Officer are responsible for the development of goals for the ASP. The Safety 
Manager is responsible to report directly to the CEO on compliance with the ASP.  
 
The ASP's intent is to: 

 Establish a clearly defined safety structure with lines of authority and responsibility to 
implement the program, processes, and policies that integrates safety into all aspects of 
DART functions. 

 Provide means of measuring and achieving DART safety goals and initiatives, and 
compliance with rules and regulations. 

 Provide multiple pathways for employees to report safety concerns, hazard, near misses 
and security concerns. 

 Set procedures for review, approval, and documentation of system modifications to 
existing systems, vehicles, facilities, and equipment. 

 Set processes to address safety issues for activation of new systems and modifications to 
existing systems, facilities, and vehicles prior to initiation of service. 

 Establish standards for emergency preparedness and management. 

 Ensure compliance to safety rules and regulations that impact operations or 
maintenance. 

 Conduct an ongoing maintenance inspections program of vehicles, equipment, 
facilities, and maintenance cycles, with documentation and the integration of identified 
safety concerns into the hazard management process. 

 Set safety training standards for employees and contractors. 

 Establish a configuration management control process for modifications during 
operations. 

 Establish standards for and compliance with the hazardous materials program, drug and 
alcohol program as well as procurement processes. 

 Conduct continual internal reviews, and inspections to evaluate ASP compliance.  
 
Integrating Safety into all Aspects of DART 

The objective of safety at DART is the continual improvement of our processes and operations to 
maximize safety to the highest practicable level. This effort is undertaken by providing continual 
opportunities for employees to be reminded of safety, incorporate safe practices into their 
operations and multiple means for each employee to identify potential hazards. 
 
The DART safety team accomplishes this through monthly safety meetings for bus operators and 
the maintenance department, safety committee meetings, weekly safety messages, safety 
poster campaigns, identification and mitigation of hazards, proactive reviews and inspections to 
identify potential hazards. 
 
Within the different departments, multiple means of incorporating safety are presented. As 
examples: 

 The planning department consults with Safety when implementing new bus routes, 
adding or moving service stops, adding or moving shelters, etc. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 24



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   4 | P a g e  
 

 Safety works with the External Affairs department on bus wraps, on-board signage, and 
on-board PSAs 

 Safety works with the Procurement department to review safety related language in 
contracts and safety related features of vehicles being considered for purchase. 

  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 25



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   5 | P a g e  
 

3. Annual Review and Update 
 
The DART Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan is reviewed at least annually, and updated 
to reflect organizational, process, and other safety program changes.  The PTASP is also updated 
on an as-required, event-driven basis, all of which is intended to promote continuous 
improvement within the plan.  
  
The responsibility to review the Plan annually, assess its effectiveness, develop and propose 
changes, solicit internal and external reviews, implement and control the revisions and distribute 
the changes rests with the Safety Manager.  Throughout the year, the Safety Manager in 
consultation with the Transportation Manager, Maintenance Manager, HR Manager, and the 
Safety and Training Specialist will keep a record of PTASP performance and make notes 
regarding any omissions, corrections, additions, and clarifications that should be addressed in 
the annual review. 
 
The review and necessary revisions include, but are not limited to the following: 

 Accident investigations 

 Changing trends in accident/incident data 

 New, extended, or upgraded service or routes 

 New or retrofitted rolling stock or non-revenue vehicles and equipment  

 New or rehabilitated facilities 

 New or revised emergency operating procedures 

 Change in management or organizational change and reassignment of functional 
responsibilities which affect operations and/or safety 

 Change in safety polices, goals or objectives 

 Change in regulatory requirements; or reporting requirements 

 At the request of DART Leadership 

 As a result of internal or external audit findings 

 Iowa DOT on-site reviews or upon written notification of the Iowa DOT 
 
DART intends to achieve continuous improvement within the performance targets as well as in 
improving processes and procedures that reduce safety risk, training programs that improve 
skills, knowledge and abilities, and engineering and administrative controls that mitigate or 
eliminate hazards. This will be accomplished, for example, through lessons learned, in addition to 
risk-based internal safety reviews. 
  
The Safety Manager coordinates proposed revisions to the PTASP with appropriate department 
managers and executive team members. The DART CEO approves all updates to the plan.  
The PTASP is maintained in electronic format and available to personnel on the intranet located 
under the Safety Management Systems tab along with other Minimum Standards for Safety 
documents.  
 
Annual revision of the PTASP will be completed by October 30 of each year and submitted to 
the DART Commission for approval no later than the December Commission meeting of that 
year. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 26



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   6 | P a g e  
 

4. Safety Performance Targets 
 
The following Performance Targets are aligned with the National Public Transportation Safety 
Plan supporting the 4 measures: Fatalities, Injuries, Safety Events & System Reliability.   
 
4.1. FY 2023 Safety Performance Targets 
 

Safety Performance Targets (FY 2022 

Mode of Transit 
Service Fatalities 

Fatalities 
per 100/K 

miles 
Injuries 

Injuries 
per 100/K 

miles 

Safety 
Events 

Safety 
Events per 

100/k 
miles 

System 
Reliability 

Fixed Route Bus 

(MB DO) 
0 0 7.0 0.30 12.0 0.57 15,801 

Paratransit Bus 

(DR DO) 
0 0 1.0 0.13 1.0 0.14 24,744 

Rideshare 

(VP DO) 
0 0 1.0 1.0 1.0 .17 138,000 

Taxi 

(DT PT) 
0 0 1.0 1.0 1.0 .17 7,400 

 
The Bipartisan Infrastructure Law added requirements to DART’s Agency Safety Plan to set risk 
reduction performance targets using a three-year rolling average. 
  
With no similar guidance issued by the FTA regarding the setting of the safety performance targets, 
DART will begin using the three-year rolling average for the safety performance targets once we 
have three years of data.   
 
With the safety performance targets only being tracked in this format since FY 2021, FY 2023’s 
proposed safety targets are based on the average of FY 2021 and FY 2022’s actual safety 
performance.  Rideshare and Taxi did not report any major road calls in FY 22, their FY 23 target 
was set to the same as FY 22.  
 
Some averages for the total number injuries and safety events were rounded up for the FY 23 
targets.  Where the average of for Injuries or Safety Event resulted in a fraction, the target number 
was rounded up to the nearest whole number and the corresponding “per 100/K” target was 
similarly adjusted.  
 
4.2. FY 2022 Safety Performance Targets Results 
DART’s Public Transit Agency Safety Plan is required to set and track safety performance targets. 
There are seven safety performance areas for each mode of service DART delivers that are 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 27



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   7 | P a g e  
 

tracked. As the following table illustrates, DART met or exceeded our Safety Performance Targets 
in every category for FY 2022 
 

FY 2022 Safety Performance Targets  

Mode of 
Transit Service Fatalities 

Fatalities 
per 100/K 

miles 
Injuries 

Injuries 
per 100/K 

miles 

Safety 
Events 

Safety 
Events per 
100/k miles 

System 
Reliability 

Fixed Route  

FY 22 Target 

FY 22 Actual 

 

 

0 

0 

 

 

0 

0 

 

 

10 

11 

 

 

1.25 

0.49 

 

 

12 

14 

 

 

1.5 

0.62 

 

 

10,500 

14,617 

 

Paratransit  

FY 22 Target 

FY 22 Actual 

 

 

0 

0 

 

 

0 

0 

 

 

2 

1 

 

 

1.0 

0.13 

 

 

3 

2 

 

 

0.17 

0.27 

 

 

21,000 

49,488 

 

Rideshare 

FY 22 Target 

FY 22 Actual 

 

 

0 

0 

 

 

0 

0 

 

 

1 

0 

 

 

1.0 

0.0 

 

 

1 

2 

 

 

1.0 

0.26 

 

 

138,000 

0.00 

 

Taxi 

FY 22 Target 

FY 22 Actual 

 

 

0 

0 

 

 

0 

0 

 

 

1 

0.0 

 

 

1.0 

0.0 

 

 

1. 

0.0 

 

 

0.17 

0.0 

 

 

7,400 

0.00 

 

 
For FY 22, Rideshare, and Taxi had no major mechanical breakdowns that effected their System 
Reliability. 
 
The FY 22 goal for preventable accidents was 1.00 per 100/k miles of revenue service.  DART 
narrowly missed achieving that goal and ended the fiscal year with an overall accident rate of 
1.11 preventable accident  per 100/k miles.   
 
We continue to gather accident data and analyze it for trends in accident causes.  To address  
any trends found, our behind the wheel trainers continually reinforce behaviors and mindsets to 
help operators stay accident free.  Operation road supervisor are increasing the number of 
operator evaluations conducted with a concentration on evaluating operators with less than 
two years of experience.   
  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 28



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   8 | P a g e  
 

5. Safety Performance Target Coordination 
 
DART works in accordance with its local Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO), the Des 
Moines Area Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO).  DART’s Planning Department 
communicates all performance targets to the MPO.  
 
DART will select safety performance targets on an annual basis and makes this information 
available to the MPO, as required under the Mobilizing Tomorrow 2050 long-range plan and the 
most recent Transportation Improvement Program (TIP). DART will also submit this to the Iowa 
Department of Transportation under the requirements of State Safety Oversight. The MPO 
strategically utilizes this information in order to make investment and policy decisions to achieve 
national performance goals. It establishes safety performance measure requirements for the 
purpose of carrying out the State’s Highway Safety Improvement Plan and to assess fatalities 
and serious injuries on all public roads. 
 

Safety Performance Target Coordination with local Metropolitan Planning 
Organizations (MPO) and State Agencies 

Safety 
Performance 
Targets 
Transmitted  

MPO or State Agency Name Date Targets Transmitted 

Des Moines Area MPO After DART Commission Approval 
Iowa Department of Transportation –  
Office of Public Transit After DART Commission Approval 

 

6. Risk Reduction Targets 
The Bipartisan Infrastructure Bill requires DART to develop, and add to their agency safety plan, a 
risk reduction program for transit operations to improve safety by reducing the number and rates 
of accidents, injuries, and assaults on transit workers based on data submitted to the national 
transit database and to set risk reduction performance targets using a three-year rolling average 
of the data submitted by the recipient to the National Transit Database.   
 
Performance targets for a risk reduction program are not required to be in place until FTA has 
updated the National Public Transportation Safety Plan to include applicable performance 
measures.    
 
DART will establish risk reduction performance targets once the National Safety Plan is updated.   

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 29



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   9 | P a g e  
 

7. Safety Management Policy 
 
7.1. Safety Management Policy Statement 
The Des Moines Area Transit Authority (DART) mission is to enrich lives, connect communities and 
expand opportunities for those we serve.  As we work to fulfill our mission, safety is a key 
component to our overall strategy and decision-making process.  Safety affects all aspects of 
the DART organization including operations, maintenance, planning, design, procurement, and 
training. Therefore, all DART staff members are charged with the responsibility of promoting the 
safety and security of customers, fellow employees, and the general public who interact with 
the DART system. 
  
The safety and security of our customers and our employees are DART’s greatest responsibilities. 
In addition, all DART employees and contractors are expected to conduct their duties in a safe 
manner that will prevent collisions, reduce injuries, and avoid property damage. 
 
Each employee must operate safely by using equipment, tools, and materials properly, and be 
familiar with work rules and procedures for their areas of responsibility. Each employee shall take 
an active role in the identification and reporting of hazards. Supervisors shall actively participate 
in the assessment and resolution of hazards and cooperate with DART safety staff to eliminate or 
control hazards throughout the DART system. 
  
DART management will provide leadership in promoting safety throughout the organization. The 
CEO and the executive leadership team will be continually and directly involved in formulating, 
reviewing, and revising the Safety Management Policies and safety goals and objectives. DART 
management will provide the authority and support to establish and maintain high safety 
standards in operations, maintenance, and training. 
  
Every DART employee and contractor shall comply with the provisions of the Agency Safety Plan 
and shall fully cooperate with Safety staff in achieving DART’s safety goals and objectives.  
  
As part of its commitment to safety, DART will: 

 Instill a just safety culture that fosters safe practices, encourages effective employee 
safety reporting and communication, and actively manages safety with the same 
attention as those applied to the other management systems of the organization. 

 Integrate the management of safety as a prime responsibility of all managers and 
employees. 

 Support safety efforts with the appropriate financial resources. 

 Establish a culture whereby management leads by example. 

 Clearly define for all staff, managers, employees and contractors alike, their 
accountabilities and responsibilities for the delivery of the organization’s safety 
performance and the performance of our safety management system. 

 Establish and operate hazard identification and analysis, and safety risk evaluation 
activities, including an employee safety reporting program as a fundamental source for 
safety concerns and hazard identification, in order to eliminate or mitigate the safety risks 
of the consequences of hazards resulting from our operations or activities to a point 
which is consistent with our acceptable level of safety performance. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 30



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   10 | P a g e  
 

 Ensure that no retaliatory action is taken against any employee who discloses a safety 
concern through the employee safety reporting program. 

 Comply with, and whenever possible exceed, legislative and regulatory requirements 
and standards. 

 Ensure that skilled and trained staff are available to implement safety management 
processes. 

 Ensure that all staff are provided with adequate and appropriate safety-related 
information and training, are competent in safety management matters, and are 
allocated tasks commensurate with their skills. 

 Establish and measure safety performance against realistic and data-driven safety 
performance indicators and safety performance targets. 

 Continually improve safety performance through management processes that ensure 
appropriate safety management action is taken and is effective. 

 Ensure externally supplied systems and services to support operations are provided to 
meet internal safety performance standards, regulatory requirements and industry best 
practices. 

 

 

     January 2023 

Elizabeth Presutti, Chief Executive Officer          DATE 
Accountable Executive 

 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 31



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   11 | P a g e  
 

7.2. Safety Management Policy Communication  
The safety management policy is communicated throughout the organization via new 
employee on-boarding, yearly review at Bus Operator and Maintenance Department monthly 
safety meetings, administrative employee quarterly meeting, and is posted in visible locations 
throughout DART facilities. 
 
The ability to communicate safety information in a timely and professional manner is important 
for DART’s Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan to function as intended. The Safety 
Management Policy Statement and this Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan will be printed 
in manual form and distributed across the organization to be referenced by management, 
union leadership and others.  
 
Documents that set forth the DART Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan and the 
implementation of the Safety Management System (SMS) will be stored on the shared drive 
accessed only by members of the Safety Department and backed up according to information 
systems procedures.  
 
The DART Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan will be communicated throughout the 
organization in the following ways: 

 DART employee communication platforms  

 Bulletin board postings  

 Greenshades, a human resources management system   

 SharePoint, a file-sharing system that provides regular organizational updates  

 New employee onboarding  

 Bus Operator and Maintenance safety meetings  

 Maintenance Toolbox meetings 

 Administrative quarterly meetings  

 DART Committee meetings  

 Labor Management  

 Accident review  

 Safety Committee  

  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 32



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   12 | P a g e  
 

 
7.3. Authorities, Accountabilities and Responsibilities 

 
7.3.1. Overview of DART Organizational Structure 

The Organizational chart shown in Appendix B shows the management structure for DART 
including the DART Commission, Chief Executive Officer, Executive Leadership Team, Safety 
Manager and department, as well as Chief Operations Officer and operations department. 
 
7.3.2. Accountable Executive, Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

The Chief Executive Officer is the designated Accountable Executive for SMS.  The Accountable 
Executive for the Safety Management System is responsible for ensuring the following: 

 Champions the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan, SMS, and the promotion of 
safety culture and requires that all relevant safety-related information be communicated 
and used in decision-making processes. 

 Reviews and accepts DART’s Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan.  

 Ensures the implementation of DART’s Safety Management Policy Statement in Section 
1.0. as well as DART’s Safety Management Systems (SMS) throughout the DART transit 
system.  

 Ensures action is taken to address substandard performance in DART’s SMS.  

 Allocates staff time and resources to carry out the provisions of this plan. 

 Provides the DART Commission with an accurate and ongoing assessment of safety 
performance and culture at DART. 
 

7.3.3. Chief Human Resources Officer (CHRO) 

The Chief Human Resources Officer has direct oversight over DART’s safety program and holds a 
direct line of reporting to the Accountable Executive.  The Chief Human Resources Officer 
oversees the strategic plan initiatives related to safety culture and safety performance. This 
individual also provides guidance to the Safety Manager and the Safety Department, 
champions SMS and PTASP, is the Executive Sponsor of the Safety Committee, and promotes a 
positive safety culture.  Oversees the FTA Drug and Alcohol program, including auditing 
contractors for compliance. 
 
7.3.4. Chief Operations Officer (COO) 

The Deputy CEO and Chief Operations Officer (COO) is responsible for the safety of all DART 
operations and implementing the SMS within the Transportation and Maintenance Departments. 
The COO is responsible for: 

 Promoting the safety culture. 

 Allocating staff time and resources necessary to carry out the provisions of this plan.  

 Providing operations and maintenance input for system safety activities.  

 Collaborating with the safety team to develop and implement corrective action plans 
for safety issues and ongoing changes/modifications to the system.  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 33



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   13 | P a g e  
 

 Reviewing and staying current with all safety rules and procedures governing operation 
and maintenance transit bus systems.  

 Ensuring maintenance of Standard Operating Procedures and Emergency Operating 
Procedures.  

 Requiring the Transportation and Maintenance Managers to establish and maintain clear 
and unambiguous lines of authority and responsibility for ensuring safety measures and 
procedures are in place for meeting safety performance targets. 

 Ensuring that all relevant safety-related information be communicated and used in 
decision-making. 

 Reporting safety concerns/hazards via any and all means available, to include the 
Safety Committee, Safety suggestion boxes, email to the Safety Manager or Safety and 
Training Specialist, contacting Dispatch or a Supervisor to initiate a Hazard Report 
through the creation of a TransitMaster CAD/AVL Incident Report. 
 

7.3.5. Safety Manager 

In order to maintain DART’s reporting hierarchy and satisfy the PSTAP requirement that the Safety 
Department be independent of Operations, DART’s Safety Department reports to the Chief 
Human Resources Officer (CHRO).  The Safety Manager provides oversight of the safety team, 
directs the investigation of accidents and evaluates DART facilities for compliance with federal, 
state and local safety standards. The Safety Manager oversees the utilization of the Safety 
Management System and implementation of the PTASP. The Safety Manager promotes safety 
campaigns and safety award/incentive programs to reduce passenger, employee and vehicle 
accidents, injuries and illnesses. The Safety Manager facilitates the activities of the Safety 
Committee and other committees such as the accident review committee.  The Safety 
Manager is expected to address serious safety concerns and all other safety issues requiring the 
involvement of the CEO.   

The Safety Manager meets the requirements set forth in U.S.C. 49 and the is the designated SMS 
Executive and is responsible for: 

 Advocating for a safety culture. 

 Managing and updating SMS & ASP policies, processes and procedures based on 
experiences and lessons learned.  

 Reviewing and updating this SMS and Implementation Plan at least annually. 

 Providing additional guidance material (as required) to further strengthen and clarify the 
SMS processes. 

 Managing the Safety Risk Management and Safety Assurance processes and outputs. 

 Facilitating coordination of Safety Risk Management, evaluations and investigations, and 
controls with special attention to cross-organizational impacts. 

 Monitoring the safety performance of DART operations and activities through formal 
data collection and analysis.  

 Establishing and maintaining safety risk register and safety event log to monitor and 
analyze trends in hazards, occurrences, incidents and accidents. 

 Tracking safety-critical issues and corrective actions to conclusion, using appropriate 
tracking systems.  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 34



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   14 | P a g e  
 

 Federal Transit Authority and Occupational Health and Safety Administrative issues. 

 Investigating, analyzing and identifying the cause or probable cause of all hazards, 
incidents or accidents at DART. 

 Administration and continuing improvement of the company Safety Program. 

 Administration and coordination of continuing improvement of DART’s Emergency 
Operations Plan. 

 Coordinating DART’s activities and support capabilities with local emergency response 
agencies.  

 Reporting safety concerns/hazards via all means available, to include the Safety 
Committee, Safety suggestion boxes, email to the Safety Manager or Safety and Training 
Specialist, contacting Dispatch or a Supervisor to initiate a Hazard Report through the 
creation of a TransitMaster Incident Report. 
 

7.3.6. Safety and Training Specialist 

The Safety and Training Specialist is responsible for system safety functions including, but not 
limited to:   

 Design reviews and incorporation of safety requirements into contract documents.  

 Implementation and administration of the PTASP with other DART departments.  

 Occupational safety and health and fire safety inspections and audits.  

 Life safety evacuation drills.  

 Review of operations and maintenance reports for safety impact and hazard 
identification.  

 Incorporation of safety requirements into operating plans, procedures, and training 
programs.  

 Participation on safety committees and boards on behalf of the Safety Manager.  

 Defining and proposing required safety policies, plans, rules and procedures.  

 Maintenance of the PTASP.  

 Safety inspections and audits throughout DART departments related to facilities, 
equipment, personnel and procedures.  

 Routing safety data and identified hazards for review and analysis.  

 Investigation of accidents. 

 Performing DART safety audits, ride checks and field observations.  

 Serving as an advisor to local safety committees and supporting executive safety 
committee meetings with safety information updates.  

 Tracking, analyzing and interpreting statistical data concerning occupational illnesses, 
injuries and accidents to identify trends and recommending appropriate corrective 
actions.  

 Facilitating the tracking status of safety critical open items and corrective actions to 
closure and performing assurance audits throughout DART as directed.  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 35



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   15 | P a g e  
 

 Coordinating hazard reporting, performance measures, job hazard analysis, and Toolbox 
Talk Sessions.  

 Providing guidance and input on training matters of occupational safety, health and fire 
protection to all DART departments.  

 Overseeing that safety precautions are taken when working with and disposing of 
hazardous substances and waste.  
 

7.3.7. DART Management  

All DART managers are accountable and responsible for: 

 Implementing the safety risk management, safety assurance, and safety training and 
communication protocols of their department. 

 Ensuring safety performance within their functional areas. 

 Ensuring procedures are consistent with the SMS. 

 Determining and implementing countermeasures required to counteract safety risks and 
manage issues that negatively impact DART safety performance. 

 Supporting and requiring employees within their department to participate in safety 
training activities. 

 Integrating Safety Risk Management (SRM) into existing processes. 

 Reporting safety concerns/hazards via any and all means available, to include the 
Safety Committee, safety suggestion boxes, email to the Safety Manager or Safety and 
Training Specialist, contacting Dispatch or a Supervisor to initiate a Hazard Report 
through the creation of a TransitMaster Incident Report. 
 

7.3.8. DART Operations and Maintenance Supervisors  

DART Operations and Maintenance Supervisors are accountable and responsible for: 

 The safety performance of all personnel and equipment under their supervision. 

 Implementing and maintaining safety-related control measures/mitigations. 

 Familiarizing employees with the safety requirements and hazards associated with the 
work to be performed. 

 Documenting and responding to identified hazards that may impact safety 
performance. 

 Sharing lessons learned from incidents. 

 Implementing and adhering to SMS procedures and processes within their span of 
control. 

 Reporting safety concerns/hazards via any and all means available, to include the 
Safety Committee, safety suggestion boxes, email to the Safety Manager or Safety and 
Training Specialist, contacting Dispatch or a Supervisor to initiate a Hazard Report 
through the creation of a TransitMaster CAD/AVL Incident Report. 
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 36



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   16 | P a g e  
 

7.3.9. All DART Employees   

All DART employees are responsible for: 

 Becoming familiar with the safety procedures for their assigned work activity. 

 Performing their work safely. 

 Following procedures and rules. 

 Reporting mishaps and incidents to their supervisor and DART Safety department in 
accordance with established requirements for the protection of themselves, co-workers, 
customers, facilities, and equipment. 

 Reporting safety concerns/hazards via any and all means available, to include the 
Safety Committee, safety suggestion boxes, email to the Safety Manager or Safety and 
Training Specialist, contacting Dispatch or a Supervisor to initiate a Hazard Report 
through the creation of a TransitMaster CAD/AVL Incident Report.  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 37



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   17 | P a g e  
 

7.3.10. Responsibilities Summary 
 

Roles at the Executive, Director, Manager, and Safety Department Levels 

 

Legend: 

“P” Denotes primary responsibility for an aspect the topic of the line 

“S” Denotes support responsibility  

 

RESPONSIBLITIES 

RO
LE

S 

C
EO

 

C
O

O
 

C
FO

 

C
HR

O
 

Sa
fe

ty
 M

an
ag

er
 

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 M
an

ag
er

 

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 M
an

ag
er

 

FR
 a

nd
 M

S 
 M

an
ag

er
 

Hu
m

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

 M
an

ag
er

 

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t M

an
ag

er
 

IT 
Di

re
ct

or
 

C
hi

ef
 P

la
nn

in
g 

O
ffi

ce
r 

Sa
fe

ty
 a

nd
 Tr

ai
ni

ng
 S

pe
ci

al
ist

 

Bu
sin

es
s 

A
na

ly
st

 M
an

ag
er

 

Goals and Objectives P S S S S S S S S S S S S S 

SMS Control and Update S S S S P        P  

Hazard Management Process S S S S P S S S S S S S S  

Safety Data and Acquisition S S S S P S S S S  P S P P 

Accident Investigation and Reporting S S S S P S S P S  S  P  

Accident Retraining/Skills Development S S S S S P  P     P  

Emergency Management P P S P P S S S S S S S S S 

Security S S S S P S P S S S S S S S 

Cybersecurity S S S S S S S S S S P S S S 

Internal Review/Audit S P S P P S S S S S S S P S 

Rules Compliance S S  S P P P P P S S  S  

Facilities Inspection and Maintenance S P   S  P      S  
Equipment Inspection and 
Maintenance S P   S  P      S  

Training Program S S S P S P P S S    S  

Asset Management S P S  P  P        

Local, State, and Federal Requirements S P S S P P P S S S S S P  

Procurement S S P  S  S S  P S    

Hours of Service P S S S S  S S  S  S  S 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 38



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   18 | P a g e  
 

7.4. Employee Safety Reporting Program 
In order to encourage employees to assume a proactive role in hazard identification and 
reporting and fostering a safety culture in which employees feel safe from punitive actions when 
reporting safety concerns, DART has, as a part of the PTASP and SMS, adopted an Employee 
Safe Reporting System.  While employees may submit their safety concerns, suggestions, and 
recommendations anonymously – they are encouraged to provide their contact information so 
that, in the event further details are required, they can be contacted.   
 
Employees should feel secure from punitive action for reporting a safety violation provided the 
safety violation was not the result of: 

 Intentional reckless actions that caused physical injury and/or damage to property. 

 Criminally illegal action. 

 Gross negligence.  

 A demonstrated inability to learn from past events and act to prevent reoccurrence.  
 

Employees from all departments are encouraged to report safety concerns via the following 
methods: 

 Safety Suggestion boxes located in the operators’ lounge at the bus garage and in the 
operators’ breakroom at DART Central Station. 

 Email, telephone call, or speaking directly to the Safety and Training Specialist, the Safety 
Manager, an on-duty dispatcher, or an on-duty supervisor.  

 Employees may report safety concerns anonymously by using a smartphone to scan a 
QR code that opens an on-line form to be filled out.  Alternately, staff can copy and 
follow a URL to the web form.  Lastly, a link to the web form will be periodically emailed 
to staff. 

 
7.5. Emergency Management and Local Coordination 

 
7.5.1. Emergency Management 

DART has developed this Emergency Response Plan (ERP) plan with the goal of providing safe 
transportation service to our customers, the citizens of our service area, and the employees of 
our company.   
 
The DART Emergency Response Plan (ERP) provides a structured guide during periods of an 
emergency, whether natural or manmade disasters, as well as when disasters are forecasted or 
imminent. DART has adopted the protocols defined in the National Incident Management 
System and has formed an Emergency Response Team.   
 
The Emergency Response Team (ERT) will be the key to the success of our emergency response 
actions.  The ERT team will provide overall direction of the emergency response activities.  With 
the decision-makers at one location, key personnel and resources can be utilized more 
efficiently.  The coordination of emergency response activities will ensure that all tasks are 
accomplished with little or no duplication of effort.  
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 39



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   19 | P a g e  
 

 The ERP will help us to: 

 Provide a superior level of safety in our transit operations. 

 Identify the succession plan and responsibilities for DART. 

 Maximize our resources during an emergency or crisis. 

 Continue our continuity of operations during emergencies. 

 Comply with all agencies at the local, state and federal levels to minimize the impact 
during emergencies and to meet applicable requirements of regulatory agencies. 

 Reinforce a culture that promotes safety as being the responsibility of every employee. 
 
During many different types of emergencies, the role of DART is to support the efforts of police, 
fire and rescue workers.  Transit equipment and personnel may be used for evacuations, to 
transport emergency workers or for warming/cooling areas at the scene of an incident.  Normal 
transit services may need to be modified during such emergencies, but DART remains 
committed to providing transportation to the public to the greatest extent possible. 
 
DART’s emergency planning process includes the following categories:  

 Transit Related Accidents 

 Severe Weather 

 High velocity winds and tornadoes 

 Flooding 

 Fire 

 Pandemics 

 Grade crossing accidents 

 Derailments and collisions (mass casualties) 

 Medical Emergency 

 Hazardous Material Spill 

 Acts of Violence 

 Civil Unrest 

 Acts of Terrorism 

 Hazardous Materials 

 Earthquakes 

 Hijacking or hostage situation 

 Terrorist attacks 

 Chemical/Biological - Inside vehicle 

 Chemical/Biological - Outside vehicle 

 Bomb threats or explosives (includes weapons of mass destruction (WMD) 
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 40



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   20 | P a g e  
 

7.5.2. Coordination with External Agencies 

DART staff attends first responder meetings throughout the year and other emergency response 
meetings as required to coordinate and plan emergency response and proactive processes.  
Agencies represented at these meetings including local police, state police, FBI, Attorney 
General’s office, fire departments, emergency medical service, county emergency 
management and public utilities. 
 
DART also coordinates with the emergency responders in the municipalities in our service area as 
well as with other supporting agencies for planning, training and exercises to ensure 
comprehensive response to any adverse event on the system. 
 
DART and the Polk County Emergency Management Agency (PCEMA) have a Memo of 
Understanding (MOU) whereby any municipality and /or emergency response agency may 
contact PCEMA to request DART resources to help prepare for an emergency, provide aid 
during an emergency, and assist with recovery from a natural disaster.  Services that DART may 
provide include but are not limited to: 

 Provide shelter at the scene of a building evacuation. 

 Provide a heated or cooled space for first responders. 

 Provide transportation for large numbers of people from uninhabitable dwellings. 

 Provide transportation for people stranded due to accidents, weather events, or other 
such incidents. 

 Provide the use of DART buses for responder training scenarios. 

 Provide local first responders with training and familiarization opportunities for any new 
DART equipment and facilities. 

 
7.5.3. Emergency Preparedness Planning 

DART’s emergency management planning and preparation is consistent with the objectives 
outlined in the Homeland Security Presidential Directives (HSPDs) requiring implementation of the 
National Response Plan (NRP), the National Incident Management System (NIMS), the National 
Infrastructure Protection Plan (NIPP), and the National Preparedness Goal.   The System Security 
Plan (SSP) provides additional details about DART’s response to terrorist events. 
 
7.5.4. Emergency Drills 

Emergency preparedness drills are planned and conducted with police, fire and emergency 
response personnel from Des Moines. On new extensions, extra tabletop exercises and drills are 
held to familiarize the departments with DART operations, its equipment and facilities, and 
procedures.  In addition, facility emergency preparedness drills are conducted semi-annually.  
Emergency preparedness drills can include evacuation and severe weather sheltering.  DART 
follows the Homeland Security Exercise and Evaluation Program (HSEEP) protocol.  
 
7.5.5. Implementation of Findings 

After Action Reports (AARs) are developed following the completion of emergency drills and 
exercise scenarios.  The ESSC reviews the After Action Reports and develops and implements 
appropriate actions to respond to the After Action Report recommendations.  Discrepancies 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 41



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   21 | P a g e  
 

found as a result of corrective training or drills are corrected in the procedures developed by the 
appropriate department with the assistance of the Safety Department. 
 
7.5.6. Emergency Familiarization 

Fire Departments 

Familiarization training is offered to local fire departments.  Training is conducted and 
coordinated with DART Facilities and Safety departments.   Included in the training is: 

 Procedures for notification, control, and degree of responsibility on-site. 

 Levels of service (equipment, personnel, etc.) to be delivered in response to various 
types of transit emergencies. 

 Appropriate methods for communication and transfers of command. 

 Familiarization with DART’s equipment and facilities. 

 Use of tools, equipment, and DART personnel to assist as necessary. 

 Procedures to remove and restore power. 

 Scheduled drills and exercises annually. 
 

Police Departments 

Familiarization training is offered to local and regional police and law enforcement 
organizations including those law enforcement personnel specifically assigned off-duty officers 
employed by DART.  Law enforcement training is conducted and coordinated with DART 
Facilities and Safety departments.   Included in the training is: 

 Procedures for notification, control, and degree of responsibility on-site. 

 Familiarization with DART equipment and facilities. 

 Scheduled drills and exercises annually. 
 
7.5.7. Emergency Preparedness Training 

DART incorporates emergency management training through various safety, public safety, and 
operations training programs in order to achieve the following objectives: 

 Applicable management, operations, and maintenance rules, procedures, and plans 
are effectively documented and conveyed to those responsible for their 
implementation. 

 Oversight to ensure DART personnel responsible for dispatching and controlling assets to 
administer, operate, and maintain the system’s safety and security equipment and 
facilities. 

 Safety-related rules and procedures for management, operations, and maintenance 
personnel are documented and effectively implemented by all employees as required. 

 Emergency procedures have been developed, documented and are successfully 
implemented by all personnel as required, including public safety personnel (if 
appropriate). 

 Transportation personnel and local emergency responders understand the hazards of 
the transportation environment. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 42



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   22 | P a g e  
 

 An adequate level of preparation is maintained for a possible emergency. 

Additional training typically addresses rules, policies, and procedures, as well as many of the 
hazards in the transportation environment (e.g., high voltage power, roadway safety, hazardous 
materials and alternate fuels, medical emergencies or blood-borne pathogen awareness, 
personal safety, and injury prevention).  NIMS and Incident Command System (ICS) orientation 
and training activities are ongoing.  All employees participate in the DART Emergency Response 
Plan training. 
 
7.5.8. Emergency Preparedness Exercises 

At a minimum, one emergency tabletop or field exercise is planned and conducted annually to 
ensure the adequacy of emergency plans and procedures and the ability of DART personnel to 
respond under emergency conditions.  These exercises are evaluated through the use of an 
after-action debriefing.  The results of the debriefing will be analyzed to document the lessons 
learned and what actions are needed to improve DART emergency operations capabilities. 
 
7.5.9. Emergency Response Training 

All front-line DART transportation and maintenance personnel will be trained in emergency 
response to ensure they have a complete understanding of what their roles and responsibilities 
are during an emergency incident. The extent of the training will be based on their anticipated 
role during the incident.  The minimum training that will be provided on the emergency plans 
and procedures will be to the level that the employee can reasonably be expected to respond 
to. Training to familiarize with fire, rescue and other emergency service personnel with special 
transit system requirements is coordinated through the Safety Department.  
 

 
  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 43



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   23 | P a g e  
 

8. Safety Risk Management 
 
The second pillar of the Agency Safety Plan is Safety Risk Management, describing how DART 
identifies, evaluates, tracks and mitigates hazards and risk in the organization and on the transit 
system.  
 
8.1. Safety Risk Management Process 
The Safety Department collaborates with all DART departments to ensure adequate safety 
control measures are incorporated into daily and special operations, and that efforts are taken 
to resolve significant safety issues. 
 
8.1.1. Safety Department Activities  

The Safety Department is responsible for conducting comprehensive investigations of collisions, 
passenger and employee injuries/illnesses and fatalities, major fires, and other serious incidents 
that may occur. In addition, Safety conducts formalized hazard assessments of systems, facilities 
and equipment. The DART Safety Committee assists the Safety Department in safety reviews and 
audits, processing Hazard Reporting Forms and hazard identification throughout the DART 
system.  
 
The Safety Department is responsible for the development and implementation of a health and 
safety program to protect DART employees in the work environment and passengers in the 
transit system’s environment. This function is focused primarily on facilities, construction, 
maintenance, operating procedures, and the avoidance of hazards through compliance with 
instruction and the use of prescribed safety devices. Therefore, it conducts activities that 
concentrate on passenger and employee protection efforts, personal safety attitudes, and 
accident/incident data collection and analysis.  
 
Another responsibility is minimizing hazards in the design and operation of the DART system. The 
Safety Department activities are focused on the identification and resolution of system safety 
hazards and on the inclusion of system safety requirements in the design and development of 
system elements such as facilities, buses, systems, equipment, procedures and training.  
 
The following summarizes the general responsibilities of the DART Safety Department:  

 Defines system safety requirements.  

 Identifies and assists in investigating and resolving hazards with the system, including 
those related to maintenance, operation, and accident/incident investigation.  

 Evaluates identified hazards and design action to eliminate or minimize and control the 
hazards.  

 Incorporates safety into operation and maintenance procedures.  

 Develops safety design criteria for incorporation into service design.  

 Conducts hazard analyses of plans and specifications for new equipment and 
construction.  

 Maintains system safety records in accordance with the Records Retention Schedule.  

 Manages and implements the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan.  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 44



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   24 | P a g e  
 

 Performs or participates in accident and/or incident investigations, in accordance with 
DART procedures.  These could include: collisions, non-revenue vehicle collisions, 
passenger or employee injuries or fatalities, fires, major equipment damage, and other 
major incidents and accidents that occur.  

 Conducts safety assurance audits.  

 Assures awareness of and monitors compliance with pertinent federal, state, and local 
safety codes and regulations, legislations and inspection requirements.  

 Promotes employee motor vehicle safety and accident prevention.  

 Recommends and monitors uses of equipment, tools and personal protective 
equipment.  

 Supports fire prevention and control and emergency preparedness.  

 Monitors for adequate lighting and noise levels in the facilities.  

 Inspects facility cleanliness and housekeeping practices.  

 Maintains a system to monitor the license status for all employees.  

 Compiles and analyzes occupational accident information; design and implement 
programs to reduce incidence and severity of occupational injuries.  

 Maintains electronic files of Safety Data Sheets (SDS). 

 Coordinates safety-related activities to ensure that safety information is passed to all 
sections of the organization. Examples of information include collision and passenger 
accident data, occupational injury and illness loss data, safety committee meeting 
minutes, and safety inspection reports.  

 Represents DART at professional safety meetings and seminars and ensures that the 
information gained at these outside events is shared with other divisions of DART as 
appropriate.  

 Exchanges safety data with other transit systems.  

 Reviews maintenance records to ensure that proper documentation is being recorded.  

 Develops corrective actions and recommendations related to accidents, unacceptable 
hazardous conditions, and other safety issues uncovered through analyses and failure 
report data.  

 Participates in training activities to ensure that safety elements are part of the curriculum, 
and that safety information is disseminated to all affected employees.  

 Provides liaison with outside emergency response organizations and assists in such 
activities as familiarization training and emergency preparedness drills.  

 Develops/updates safety rules/ procedures and emergency preparedness plans in 
cooperation with other departments and outside agencies as appropriate.  

 Evaluates new projects and proposed system modifications from a safety perspective.  

 Develops and manages incentive and safety award programs for DART employees.  
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 45



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   25 | P a g e  
 

8.1.2. General Safety Related Activities  

The general safety-related tasks of DART Departments other than the Safety Department are 
outlined below. The listing of safety-related tasks recognizes the fact that the functional 
responsibilities at DART are not always vertically assigned but are distributed across 
departmental and divisional boundaries.  
 
The development of specifications and design related responsibilities are spread amongst DART 
departments based on function:  

 Rolling stock design, engineering and specifications for DART vehicles, including safety 
characteristics (flammability, smoke emission, braking, crash worthiness, doors) is the 
responsibility of the Maintenance and Procurement Departments. 

 Facilities design (egress, construction, fire prevention and protection) is the combined 
responsibility of Maintenance and Safety department depending upon the project.  

 Communication systems (radio) design and administration is the responsibility of the IT 
Director. Maintenance of the radio system is the responsibility of the Maintenance 
Department.  

 Specifications for the procurement of materials, including safety characteristics, are the 
responsibility of the department user, in coordination with the Procurement Department. 
The Safety Department is consulted on the procurement of all hazardous substances. The 
Procurement Department reports to the Chief Financial Officer.  

 
The following are functions of the Dispatch Center at DART:  

 The Transportation Department Dispatchers are responsible for the control of all bus 
movements (Fixed Route and Paratransit) responding to radio calls for assistance and 
monitoring service performance throughout the service day.  Service alerts, detour 
instructions, weather updates, and safety information is communicated between 
Dispatch Center and Bus Operators via the TransitMaster CAD/AVL text messaging 
system and radio-telephone interface.  

 The Operations Road Supervisors are responsible for proficiency checks, field supervision; 
assistance in bus collision and personal injury incident investigations; schedule 
adherence; responding to customer service issues, equipment breakdown, or passenger 
issues; and determining detour needs. 

 
8.1.3. Safety Committee Activities 

The Bipartisan Infrastructure Bill requires DART to establish a Safety Committee composed of 
representatives of frontline employees and management, that is responsible for identifying, 
recommending, and analyzing the effectiveness of risk-based mitigations or strategies to reduce 
consequences identified in the agencies’ safety risk assessment. 
 
Working with the ATU. Local 441, DART had reformulated its Safety Committee to meet the new 
requirements of equal front line employees and management committee composition.  
Chief among the responsibilities of the safety committee are the following: 

 Identifying and recommending risk-based mitigations or strategies necessary to reduce 
the likelihood and severity of consequences identified through the agency’s safety risk 
assessment. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 46



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   26 | P a g e  
 

 Identifying mitigations or strategies that may be ineffective, inappropriate, or were not 
implemented as intended. 

 Identifying safety deficiencies for purposes of continuous improvement. 

 Establish performance targets for the risk reduction program. 

 Approve annual updates to the ASP prior to it being submitted for DART In Commission 
for annual approval. 
 

In addition to the duties required by the BIL, the Safety Committee may also: 

 Review DART accidents and incidents and make recommendations to reduce 
reoccurrence. 

 Review Safety Risk Assessments conducted and make recommendations for resolving 
risks rated medium, due to injury potential, serious or high.  

 Make recommendations regarding safety policies and procedures. 

 Evaluate employee submitted “safety suggestions” 

 Participate in the development and implementation of efforts related to safety 
promotion and other efforts related to DART’s Public Transportation ASP. 
 

The Safety Committee Charter, detailing its purpose, scope, structure, and roles and 
responsibilities can be found as Appendix A of this document.  
 
8.1.4. Planning Department Activities 

The Planning Department is responsible for service scheduling and service planning  
    
Furthermore, employees in the Planning Department are also empowered to identify hazards in 
their work area and report them to the Safety department  
 
8.1.5. IT Department Activities 

The IT department was established to meet the increasing need for software management. The 
Department goal is to standardize software management, enhance training, create uniform job 
descriptions and establish a department that would acquire future/non-managed systems.  
 
Additional tasks include:  

 Maintaining the radio system (towers, portables, base stations, consoles) used in 
Dispatch.  

 Maintaining the Trapeze software responsible for tracking Operator attendance and 
performance.  

 Maintaining the TransitMaster System used to interface text messaging with Operators as 
well as the Incident Reporter platform used to log all incidents.  

 Setting up new technology platforms, upgrading and updating software and license 
agreements with external providers, and providing training to users of the systems.  

 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 47



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   27 | P a g e  
 

8.1.6. External Affairs Department Activities 

The External Affairs Department is responsible for marketing, passenger communications, 
community outreach, business partnerships, media relations and public records requests.  The 
safety responsibilities for the External Affairs Department include, but are not limited to:  

 Coordinating and disseminating DART’s safety messages to local, state, and federal 
governments and the general public.  

 Interfacing with DART’s Safety Manager in developing safety campaign ideas and 
identifying marketing budget resources for safety messages as needed.  

 Creating, modifying and otherwise amending a Crisis Communications Management 
Plan.  

 Ensuring data or statistics published by DART are vetted prior to release to the media or in 
other materials. 

 Being aware of upcoming drills, exercises, other scheduled activities in which there may 
be public involvement or public perception of a crisis, or other media worthy activity. 

 Ensuring that safety information is up to date and available on vehicles, the DART 
website, and at DART Central Station. 

 Ensuring that safety information provided through social media (i.e. Twitter and 
Facebook) and alerts are also posted to DART alert subscribers. 
 

8.1.7. Human Resources Department Activities  

The Human Resources Department is responsible for reviewing and updating hiring standards to 
assure that safety critical skills and qualifications are included in the selection process. 
Additionally, the Human Resources Department:  

 Coordinates with DART staff to develop formal standards and procedures for the 
evaluation and certification of probationary employees.  

 Verifies previous employment record.  

 Verifies required licenses and certifications prior to hiring.  

 Periodically reviews driver’s license status of employees whose primary job responsibilities 
involve driving and take corrective action as required.   

 Ensures new hires receive safety training during orientation.  

 Maintains training records and ensures on-going and refresher training is conducted 
based on job descriptions, the outcome of gap analyses, and recommendations from 
audits and investigations.  

 Establishes a regular system of employee performance evaluation that includes 
evaluation of compliance with safety rules and procedures.  

 Monitors the evaluation process to assure timeliness and inclusion of safety items.  

 Reviews and modifies position descriptions to reflect safety responsibilities and new 
functions as they occur.  

 Establishes a system for prioritizing the filling of vacant positions that, if not timely, may 
impact the safety of the DART system.  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 48



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   28 | P a g e  
 

 Establishes formal pass/fail standards for each employee classification.  

 Coordinates medical evaluations in relation to CDL license renewal.  

 Administers DART’s Drug and Alcohol Programs and other health/medical related 
policies (i.e. FMLA, Employee Immunizations, Independent Medical Exams, Medical 
Questionnaires, EAP and Hearing Exams).  

 Monitors the FTA Drug and Alcohol programs of our contractors. 
 

8.1.8. Procurement Department Activities 

The Procurement Department ensures that materials, equipment, construction and services are 
obtained in a timely, efficient and economical fashion, adhering to principles of good 
administrative practices, sound business judgment within the parameters of federal, state, and 
DART requirements. All purchases shall be conducted in a manner that provides maximum open 
and free competition and not unduly restrict or eliminate competition. The Procurement 
Department shall include the Safety Department for all RFP panels that include the purchases of 
chemicals and rolling stock and shall forward Safety Data Sheets (SDS), for chemicals not 
previously approved, to the Safety Department for review and approval prior to award.  
 
Purchasing goods and services for DART must be a cooperative effort, and it shall be the 
responsibility of all DART staff involved in the purchasing process to employ sound judgment and 
appropriate standards of ethics and fairness in carrying out their individual responsibilities and 
tasks.  
 
Procurement reviews each proposed contract for safety implications, including whether safety 
performance standards should be specified. It assigns responsibility for monitoring the safety 
provisions of each contract to the contract administrator who, in turn, coordinates with the 
Safety Department. Procurement verifies that contracts include provisions for federal, state and 
local regulatory compliance.  
 
For construction related procurements and projects the procurement department will: 

 Maintain as-built drawings and configuration management for systems, equipment, and 
facilities.  

 Review contracts to assure inclusion of safety design criteria.  

 Establish procedures for verification of system safety and construction safety 
requirements in contracts.  

 Establish procedures for construction/contract monitoring to assure compliance with 
safety requirements.  

 Conduct construction inspections.  
 
8.1.9. Executive Leadership Team Activities  

Members of the Executive Leadership Team are responsible for establishing policies and 
procedures for conducting accident investigations and documenting findings and results. The 
Executive Leadership Team establishes formal policies for the usage of vehicles, accident 
reporting, responsibility for safe operation and compliance with operating procedures and 
preventive maintenance program. Furthermore, Executive Leadership establishes policy for an 
employee safety program, and assigns responsibility for program management to include:  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 49



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   29 | P a g e  
 

 Safety awareness information.  

 Safety incentives with joint labor management design (Awards & Recognition 
Committee).  

 Periodic evaluation.  
 
The Executive Leadership Team establishes and assigns responsibility for managing a loss 
prevention program for DART by:  

 Establishing policy for hazard identification, assigning responsibility and establishing 
procedures for program implementation.  

 Assigning responsibilities to conduct safety analyses on new construction, engineering 
change proposals, and hazard analyses.  

 Establishing safety goals and objectives for each department.  
 
8.1.10. Transportation Operations Activities  

Transportation Operations tasks include but are not limited to the following:  

 Develop, evaluate and update operating procedures.  

 Develop procedures for abnormal and failure recovery conditions, including Continuity 
of Operations Plans.  

 Familiarize personnel with safety equipment, use and location.  

 Identify unsafe practices and procedures throughout the transit system.  

 Investigate unsafe practices and procedures as well as accidents and injuries.  

 Conduct analyses of operational data to identify trends and determine if additional 
procedures should be developed to mitigate operational problems. 

 Help establish disciplinary actions for unsafe acts, practices and rule violations 
(incorporated as part of the union contract).  

 Supervise all operations in accordance with applicable safety rules and procedures. 

 Assist the Human Resources Department with administering the FTA Random Drug and 
Alcohol testing program.  

 Oversee the post-accident testing program and vehicle procedures. 

 Finalize incident report forms and recording any additional information needed for a 
thorough investigation. 

 Help establish safety-training requirements for various positions.  

 Participate in drills and simulations to validate procedures and training.  

 Establish requisite tests and inspections.  

 Ensure that safety performance is a part of employee evaluation and promote a positive 
safety culture.  

 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 50



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   30 | P a g e  
 

8.1.11. Facility Maintenance Activities  

DART Facility Maintenance tasks include:  
 Establish policies and procedures for daily/shift inspection of safety critical items.  

 Establish preventive maintenance program for key equipment and facility components 
to assure employee safety and loss prevention.  

 Establish policies and procedures for tagging defective equipment, and work-around 
procedures where appropriate.  

 Help define support equipment, personnel and procedures for responding to an 
emergency and facility alarm situation.  

 Help define safety-training requirements related to maintenance of facilities and 
mechanical equipment (HVAC, emergency ventilation, pumps, fire suppression, etc.).  

 Identify and investigate unsafe practices and procedures throughout facilities.  

 Establish disciplinary actions for unsafe acts, practices, or rule violations (part of union 
contract).  

 Define safety critical elements and establish maintenance priorities for them.  

 Perform monthly inspections of all Underground Storage Tanks (USTs) and maintain a 
current environmental compliance evidence binder containing CITME records of 
monthly UST inspections, monthly Veeder Root compliance reports, annual UST inspection 
reports, UST permits & insurance certificates, and EPA required training documentation to 
operate and maintain the USTs.  

 Acquire and maintain current hazardous substances permits for such items as propane, 
acetylene, used oil and the underground storage of fuels.  

 Complete recommendations submitted by the fire insurance carrier.  

 Perform inspections of hazardous waste storage and correct any deficiencies. Also 
ensure proper labeling on hazardous, universal and nonhazardous waste.  

 
8.1.12. Vehicle Maintenance Department Activities 

DART Vehicle Maintenance Department tasks include:  

 Ensure required equipment is available on vehicles and establishes a checklist procedure 
to assure compliance.  

 Adhere to preventive maintenance inspection guidelines for each vehicle type, monitors 
and controls compliance to assure timely completion.  

 Maintain the maintenance records for all DART vehicles, monitoring vehicle condition 
and maintaining preventive maintenance program.  

 Monitors and leads vehicle maintenance activities, which includes supervising vehicle 
inspection processes performed by employees and external contractors and monitoring 
compliance with applicable FTA regulations. 

 Oversees new vehicle acceptance and in-service inspection processes.  

 Monitors and participates in the evaluation of components for vehicles and specialty 
equipment; determines operational needs for new vehicle specifications.  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 51



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   31 | P a g e  
 

 Defines support equipment, personnel and procedures for responding to emergencies as 
well as abnormal or failure recovery conditions.  

 Identifies and investigates unsafe practices and procedures throughout the systems.  

 Helps investigate accidents and incidents.  

 Establishes disciplinary actions for unsafe acts, practices, or rule violations (part of union 
contract).  

 Defines safety critical elements and establishes maintenance priorities for them.  

 Helps establish safety-training requirements for critical maintenance activities including 
but not limited to the following:  

 Participates in drills and simulations to validate procedures and training.  

 Develops and verifies that maintenance procedures are in place for vehicle 
maintenance activities.  

 Ensures adequate tracking of all chemicals used in respective paint booths to 
demonstrate de minimus emissions status during potential air quality inspections.  

 
8.1.13. Risk Management Activities 

The Safety Department in coordination with the Finance Department is responsible for risk 
management activities that: 

 Compile and maintain records of claims and related costs.  

 Prepare and distribute regular management reports. 

 Coordinate the accident data compilation process providing DART-wide statistics and 
data used by management and the safety committee to develop plans of action for 
continual improvement in the experience of preventable collisions, employee injuries, 
passenger accidents and asset protection.  

  
8.1.14. Security Activities 

The Safety Department and Maintenance departments are responsible for security tasks that 
include: 

 Establish reporting systems for security issues.  

 Establish, maintain, and implement the System Security Program Plan.  

 Establish, maintain, and implement the Emergency Operations Plan in partnership with 
the Safety Department.  

 In concert with affected departments establish, maintain and practice emergency 
procedures for accidents, intentional incidents and acts of nature that impact the safety 
and security of DART. 

 
8.1.15. Labor & Employee Relations Activities  

The Human Resources Department and the Operations Department are responsible for 
negotiating labor contracts that: 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 52



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   32 | P a g e  
 

 Identify management rights for assigning work, establish work rules of acceptable 
performance standards, and provide a performance management system for 
recognizing, coaching, and formally disciplining employees. 

 Establish a process for developing management strategies for labor contract changes 
that address bus operations and employee safety issues and provide support for front-
line staff in effectively enforcing safety rules and procedures. 

 Provide assistance with conflict resolution techniques to resolve labor/management 
conflicts in a way that does not disrupt safe operating procedures.  
 

8.2. Safety Hazard Identification, Assessment, and Mitigation 
The management of identified hazards is a vital component of the DART Safety Management 
System. A hazard is defined as a condition or set of conditions, internal or external to DART, 
which when activated could cause injury or death or damage or loss of equipment or property. 
An unacceptable hazard is a condition that may endanger human life or property or result in 
system loss. This includes harm to passengers, employees, contractors, equipment and to the 
general public. These hazardous conditions must be mitigated. Hazards are identified in several 
different internal and external sources. Hazards may be observed in the operating environment, 
through procedures, during system modifications and capital projects, accidents, extensions or 
operational changes. 
 
DART has implemented the guidance as outlined in FTA’s Clarification Letter September 6, 2007 
on the hazard management requirements. The Hazard Management Program applies to all 
DART employees and obligates everyone to constantly observe hazards in their work areas and 
report them to their Safety Committee, the Safety Department, or to their supervisor or manager. 
The overall hazard management program incorporates a system-wide hazard identification 
process, including activities for: 

 Identification 

 Investigation 

 Evaluation and analysis  

 Control and elimination  

 Tracking 

 Ongoing communication to DART Leadership relating to hazard management activities 
and status 

 
The following Hazard Management Program overview lays out an overall description of how 
hazards are identified, evaluated, analyzed, controlled or eliminated, tracked and reported to 
the DART Leadership team. 

 The Safety Department is the primary point of contact (POC) for the Hazard 
Management Program. 

 The Safety Department will enter identified hazards into the electronic hazard reporting 
system. The Safety Department, in conjunction with the applicable department 
manager, will develop a Corrective Action Plan (CAP) for each unacceptable and 
undesirable hazard entry and identify a point of contact or owner of the hazard and 
places this information within the hazard reporting system for tracking purposes. 

 CAPs may also be identified as a result of an incident and investigation. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 53



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   33 | P a g e  
 

 Safety Committee members also participate in the evaluation and control or elimination 
of the hazard. 

 Hazards must be mitigated at the lowest level possible. However, when a hazard is 
identified as having a mitigation that involves multiple departments or requires cost or 
changes beyond the safety committee or department abilities or budgets, the hazard 
will be elevated to the CEO.  

 Recommendations from the review, testing, industrial or environmental sampling results 
requiring corrective actions will be placed in the hazard log for follow up and possible 
need for retesting for compliance with safety or environmental requirements. 

 If mitigation or control of a hazard is not achieved the hazard mitigation process may be 
elevated to the CEO for final resolution. 
 

8.2.1. Hazard Identification and Analysis  
Hazard or Risk Assessments 

DART has adopted a system for assessing the level of risk for each identified hazard to determine 
what action(s) must be taken to correct or document the hazard risk. This assessment system has 
been incorporated into the formal system safety analysis which enable the Safety Department 
and/or Safety Committees to understand the amount of risk involved in accepting the hazard in 
relation to the cost (schedule, cost, operations) to reduce the hazard to an acceptable level. 

Identification of hazards is the responsibility of all DART employees and contractors. The 
continuous identification, monitoring, and elimination of hazards is key to an effective hazard 
management program. Hazard identification methods include, but are not limited to the 
following: 

 Observation, inspection, and interaction of all DART employees and contractors  

 Reports from safety committee members, passengers, customer service, and field 
personnel 

 Evaluation of accidents, incidents, near misses, to include data trends and projections 

 Preliminary Hazard Analysis (PHA) of a design or new construction 

 Safety certification, system integration testing, pre-revenue testing, system modification, 
configuration management verification, and inspection processes 

 Internal and external safety reviews, inspections, observations, defects, findings, 
observations, violations, and reviews 

 Training feedback and "lessons learned" inputs 

 Review of applicable regulatory codes and standards 

 NTSB, FTA, OSHA, safety recommendations, guidance, initiatives, and alerts 
 
Examples of observed hazards may include: 

 An uneven garage floor joint that could cause a trip and fall 

 Opening in a section of fencing which allows access of a trespasser 

 A forklift that has an oil or hydraulic leak 

 Ice formation on stairway 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 54



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   34 | P a g e  
 

 Missing fire extinguisher in a maintenance shop 

 A large pothole 

 New construction that impedes access to or from a bus stop or shelter  
 

The DART Hazard Log is managed by the Safety Department.  Hazards identified by an 
employee to his/her supervisor may be resolved by the employee and supervisor. For example, a 
discharged fire extinguisher may be identified by an employee and brought to the attention of 
his/her supervisor and the supervisor gives the employee authorization to order a newly charged 
extinguisher from the supply room for a replacement. If the supervisor is unable to solve the 
identified hazard, he/she will forward the hazard to the Safety Department to be brought to the 
Safety Department for resolution. The Safety Department will review the hazard and assign an 
Initial Hazard Rating (IHR) and place the hazard into the hazard reporting system to be tracked.  
All reported hazards that are not closed will be reviewed by the Safety Department and the 
Safety Committee.  
 
Hazard Investigation, Evaluation, and Analysis 

Safety concerns should be identified and corrected at the lowest level (employee/department) 
as soon as practicable. Safety concerns that are not eliminated at this level are reported to the 
Safety Department. Reported concerns will be assessed by the Safety Department and or Safety 
Committee to determine if a safety hazard exists and assign an IHR. 
 
Accident Evaluation and Root Cause Analysis 

Hazards are investigated as they are identified through evaluating accidents, incidents, and 
near misses. Hazards originating from accidents are reviewed by the Safety Department, 
respective department involved, and the Safety Committee; though the Safety Committee 
focus is on trends as opposed to single incidents. As part of evaluating accidents and incidents, 
root cause analysis using the “FIVE Why?” methodology is used to help focus on the bottom-line 
fundamental cause and determine the most effective solutions to mitigating hazards.  
 
The primary purpose of the accident evaluation process is to determine root causes of potential 
hazards that may have contributed to an incident. A third-party expert may be used to assist 
with an investigation if deemed necessary. This will be determined based upon DART hazard 
assessments that are determined to be frequent and high. 
 
Hazard Analysis Matrix 

The DART Hazard Analysis Matrix is shown below. The hazard ratings are labeled as HIGH, 
SERIOUS, MEDIUM, LOW, and ELIMINATED.  
 
Hazard severity is a subjective measure of the worst credible mishap resulting from personnel 
error, environmental conditions, design inadequacies and/or system, subsystem, or component 
failure or malfunction.   
 
The likelihood of a particular event or a specific hazard occurring may be defined as a non- 
dimensional ratio of the number of times that a specific event occurs to the total number of trials 
in which this event will occur during the planned life expectancy of a system.  
  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 55



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   35 | P a g e  
 

 
DART Risk  

Assessment Matrix 
SEVERITY 

1. Catastrophic 2. Critical 3. Marginal 4. Negligible 

PR
O

BA
BI

LI
TY

 A. Frequent  High High Serious Medium 
B. Probable High High Serious Medium 
C. Occasional High Serious Medium Low 
D. Remote Serious Medium Medium Low 
E. Improbable Medium Medium Medium Low 
F. Eliminated  Eliminated  

 
Resolution Requirements 

High *  Unacceptable Correction required 
Serious  Undesirable Correction may be required, management decision 

Medium  Acceptable w/review With review and documentation by management 
Low  Acceptable Without review 

Eliminated  Acceptable No action required 
 
The risks that fall into the Medium spectrum as are those risks that become acceptable after 
mitigation strategies are put in place and the risks become As Low As Reasonably Practicable. 
 
Hazard Severity 

Hazard severity is a subjective determination of the worst case that could be anticipated to 
result from human error, design inadequacies, component failure or malfunction. The categories 
of hazards based on the modified MIL-STD-882 are as follows: 

 Category 1 Catastrophic - Operating conditions are such that human error, design 
deficiencies, element, subsystem or component failure or procedural deficiencies may 
cause death or major system loss and require immediate termination of the unsafe 
activity or operation. 

 Category 2 Critical - Operating conditions are such that human error, subsystem or 
component failure or procedural deficiencies may cause severe injury, severe 
occupational illness or major system damage and require immediate corrective action. 

 Category 3 Marginal - Operating conditions are such that they may result in minor injury, 
occupational illness or system damage and are such that human error, subsystem or 
component failures can be counteracted or controlled. 

 Category 4 Negligible - Operating conditions are such that human error, subsystem or 
component failure or procedural deficiencies will result in less than minor injury, 
occupational illness or system damage. 
 

The hazard categories are consistent with risk-based criteria for severity; it reflects the principle 
that not all hazards pose an equal amount of risk to personal safety. 
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 56



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   36 | P a g e  
 

 

 
Hazard Likelihood 

The likelihood of a particular event or a specific hazard occurring may be defined as a non- 
dimensional ratio of the number of times that a specific event occurs to the total number of trials 
in which this event will occur during the planned life expectancy of a system. Generally, hazard 
likelihood is described qualitatively in potential occurrences per units of time, miles, trips/runs or 
passengers carried.  
 
A hazard likelihood may be derived from the analysis of transit system operating experience, 
evaluation of DART safety data, the analysis of reliability and failure data, or from historical safety 
data from other bus systems. 
 

 

RISK SEVERITY 

Severity Level Injury or Occupational Illness 
Other than death or injury 

Property 
Damage (PD) 

System 
Disruptions (SD) Evacuation 

1 Catastrophic Death (does not include suicides, or 
death by natural causes) > $250,000 > 24 hrs. Fire/Life 

Evacuation 

2 Critical Fracture, Severe Bleeding, Paralysis, 
Brain injury, Dismemberment 

$250,000 - 
$100,000 12 - 24 hrs. 

 

3 Marginal 
Bruising, Abrasions, Bleeding, 
Sprains/Strains (Ambulance 
Transport) 

$100,000 -     
$25,000 4 - 12 hrs. 

 

4 Negligible 
Bruising, Abrasions, Bleeding, 
Sprains/Strains (No Ambulance 
Transport) 

> $25,000 <4 hrs.  

LIKELIHOOD of OCCURANCE 

Probability Level Likely hood of event in life of a 
specific item 

MTBE* in 
Operating Hours 

Occurrence within 
Fleet or Inventory MTBE in days 

A Frequent Will occur frequently < 1,000 OH Continuously 
experienced 1 / month 

B Probable Will occur several times 1,000 – 100,000 oh Will occur 
frequently 1 / year 

C Occasional Likely to occur sometimes 100,000 – 
1,000,000 oh 

Will occur several 
times 1 / 2 years 

D Remote Unlikely but possible to occur 1,000,000 – 
100,000,000 oh 

Unlikely, but can be 
expected to occur 1 / 5 years 

E Improbable 
So unlikely, assumed 

occurrence may not be 
experienced 

>100,000,000 oh Unlikely to occur, 
but possible 1 / 10 years 

F Eliminated Actions taken to remove the 
hazard/conflict Never Will not occur N/A 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 57



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   37 | P a g e  
 

*Mean Time Between Events: The likelihood that hazards will be experienced during the planned 
life expectancy of the system can be estimated in potential occurrences per unit of time, 
events, population, items, or activity.  The probability may be derived from research analysis, 
and evaluation of historical safety data. 
 
Hazard Control, Elimination, and Tracking 

Safety critical hazards that have been identified must be controlled or eliminated so that the 
hazard does not continue to pose a danger. This may be done in a temporary manner as long 
as the hazard is controlled. The process of controlling, tracking, and eliminating hazards is 
recorded in the hazard log. 
 
All hazard log entries may require a Corrective Action Plan (CAP), a tracking number, a brief 
description, a projected completion date, and an initial hazard rating (IHR) using the DART 
Hazard Analysis Matrix. A CAP may be marked as N/A if the hazard was resolved in the course of 
regular operations.  
 
Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Corrective Action Plans are utilized within DART for hazards that meet certain criteria. The 
following hazards require the usage of a Corrective Action Plan: 

 Unacceptable hazards with a Risk Assessment Code of 1A, 2A, 1B, 2B, or 1C (High 
Hazards) 

 Review findings from regulatory agencies resulting in non-conformance (DNR, FTA, OSHA) 

 Corrective action resulting from accident investigations 

 When warranted by the Safety Department 
 

CAPs are assigned a specific tracking number by the Electronic Hazard Reporting System and 
are linked with its associated hazard. CAPs must contain at a minimum: 

 A person responsible for the corrective action and for developing the Plan of Action for 
the correction 

 A proposed completion date 

 Plan approval when applicable 
 
Corrective Action Plan Development 

Corrective Action Plans are developed by department managers/designee in conjunction with 
the Safety Department. The Safety Department will ensure that the CAP process is followed and 
properly tracked until it is closed. 
 
Risk Mitigation 

Risk mitigation is defined as the analysis and subsequent actions taken to reduce to the lowest 
level practical, the risk associated with an identified hazard. Risk mitigation is not synonymous 
with hazard elimination. In a transit environment, there are some hazards that are impossible to 
eliminate and others that are highly impractical to eliminate. Reduction of risk to the lowest 
practical level can be accomplished in a variety of ways from protective and warning devices 
to special procedures. 

 To the extent permitted by cost and practicality, identified hazards will be eliminated or 
controlled by the design of equipment, systems and facilities. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 58



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   38 | P a g e  
 

 Hazards that cannot reasonably be eliminated or controlled through design will be 
controlled to the extent practicable to an acceptable level through the use of fixed, 
automatic, or other protective safety design features or devices. Provisions will be made 
for periodic functional checks of safety devices and training for employees to ensure 
that system safety objectives are met. 

 When design and safety devices cannot reasonably nor effectively eliminate or control 
an identified hazard, safety warning devices will be used (to the extent practicable) to 
alert persons to the hazards. 

 Where it is impossible to reasonably eliminate or adequately control a hazard through 
design or the use of safety warning devices, procedures and training will be used to 
control the hazard. 

 
Job Safety Briefing 

Hazards that are identified in the work area will be recorded on the hazard log, which is 
maintained by the Safety Department.  All employees are encouraged to identify and control or 
resolve hazards at the lowest management level possible. Employees that perform job tasks are 
required to discuss job tasks and identified hazards that are associated with those tasks or job 
steps during job safety briefings. Identified hazards that cannot be controlled with personal 
protective equipment (PPE) or procedures must be resolved or mitigated through the hazard 
management program. 
 
System Safety Inspections and Reviews 

The Safety Department will conduct periodic inspections and safety reviews. Maintenance and 
Administrative facilities are inspected monthly to ensure compliance with occupational safety 
regulations and local fire codes. Any deviations from required activities or identified safety 
hazards are resolved through a formal reporting process. 
 
Collection and Analysis and Reporting of System Safety Data, and Maintenance of Records 

System safety data is collected through a variety of sources including near miss information, 
accident investigation reports, internal safety reviews, employee hazard reporting system, safety 
committee meetings, occupational injury reports, incident reports, use of an accident matrix, 
system monitoring including testing and inspection records, and the hazard management 
program. 
 
The information collected from these sources is analyzed for potential safety impacts. Identified 
areas of concern are reported to appropriate personnel in the form of specific project reports, 
memos, and recommendations from the Safety Committee and/or Safety Department.   
Records of system safety data are maintained by the Safety Department.  
 
The types and severity of accidents will be tracked and monthly the Safety Department will issue 
a report as to the previous month’s accidents by mode, type, preventability, operator tenure, 
and location.  Throughout the month, when the Safety, Transportation, or Maintenance 
Managers notice a trend in accidents, they may take immediate steps to investigate the 
reason(s) behind the trend and take appropriate corrective action.   
 
Management of Change 

Management of Change is a key component of a successful ASP.  Changes in service or 
equipment being considered by DART must be subjected to a review using the Risk 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 59



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   39 | P a g e  
 

Management process to determine whether those changes would result in introducing new 
hazards or have a negative impact on safety performance.  The change may be permanent, 
temporary long term, or short term.  Examples of the types of changes subjected to review 
include but are not limited to: 

 A different style bus, i.e. electric versus diesel  

 The installation or moving of a bus stop location 

 The installation of a bus shelter at a new location 

 The implementation of a new bus route 

 The addition of service hours 

 The addition or removal of safety features on a bus 

 Long term route detour (generally not initially reviewed) 

 Short term route detour (generally not reviewed) 
 

Occasionally, change is introduced by outside forces. These types of changes generally are the 
result of municipal projects such as the addition of bike lanes, streetscape projects that reduce 
street travel lanes, street calming projects, etc. When these changes are introduced, the Safety 
and Planning departments work together to implement a migration that balances service to our 
customers with safety.  
 
Additionally, management of change in the Maintenance department is crucial to keeping 
employees safe and equipment in serviceable condition. When new equipment is introduced to 
the Maintenance department, the Maintenance Manager will work with the Safety department 
to ensure that supervisors, maintenance technicians and service personnel are thoroughly 
instructed in the safety procedures to follow when working with the new equipment.  The new or 
amended procedures will be documented in the Maintenance Standard Operating Procedures. 
 
Continuous Improvement 

As defined by the FTA, continuous improvement is defined as a process by which a transit 
agency examines safety performance to identify safety deficiencies and carry out a plan to 
address the identified safety deficiencies. 
 
The system safety data will be analyzed for trends and opportunities to improve DART’s system 
safety performance.  When a trend that negatively effects safety is defined, the Safety 
Department, Maintenance and/or Transportation Manager, and Safety Committee will 
investigate the trend and determine various methods to reverse the trend. 
 
Likewise, when a positive trend is identified, it will be analyzed for the underlying factors 
supporting the trend and staff in the respective departments will be encouraged to adopt any 
behaviors responsible for the trend. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 60



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   40 | P a g e  
 

8.3 Risk Reduction Program 
 
The Bipartisan Infrastructure Bill requires DART to establish a Risk Reduction Program for DART 
operations to improve safety by reducing the number and rates of accidents, injuries, and  
assaults on transit workers based on data submitted to the National Transit Database. 
 
The risk reduction program shall include: 

 A reduction of vehicular and pedestrian accidents involving buses that includes 
measures to reduce visibility impairments for bus operators that contribute to accidents, 
including retrofits to buses in revenue service and specifications for future procurements 
that reduce visibility impairments. 

 The mitigation of assaults on transit workers, including the deployment of assault 
mitigation infrastructure and technology on buses, including barriers to restrict the 
unwanted entry of individuals and objects into the workstations of bus operators. 

 
8.4 Exposure to Infectious Diseases 
 
The Bipartisan Infrastructure Bill requires DART’s safety plan to include strategies to minimize the 
exposure of the public, personnel, and property to hazards and unsafe conditions, and 
consistent with guidelines of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention or a State health 
authority, minimize exposure to infectious diseases. 
 
DART shall establish a program to evaluate and introduce effective measures for controlling 
infectious disease exposure on our buses and in our workspaces.  Those measures will be based 
on the hierarchy of controls concept: 

 Elimination.  Removes or prevents the entry of a disease. 

 Engineering Controls.  The use of proven technology and design to remove the 
opportunity for disease exposure at the source or to improve compliance with other 
control measures. 

 Administrative Controls.  Workplace polices and practices that prevent exposure to 
diseases.  

 Personnel Protective Equipment.  Used to prevent disease exposure and spread    

 
  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 61



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   41 | P a g e  
 

9. Safety Assurance 
 
The third pillar of the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan is Safety Assurance which 
describes how DART will measure and review its processes to ensure that it remains in 
compliance with established standards. These processes and reports will allow DART leadership 
to know whether the organization and system is functioning to an acceptable level of safety. 
The reviews, inspections, rules, checks and compliance verification procedures are described, 
required schedules set and acceptable measures established. 

 
9.1. Rules and Procedures Review 

 
9.1.1. Safety Related Operations and Maintenance Documents  
The DART Bus Operator Handbook, Paratransit Operator Handbook, Standard Operating 
Procedures, Dispatch Procedures, Emergency Operating Procedures all govern bus operating 
procedures during normal and abnormal conditions and are considered minimum standards for 
safety. Additionally, the DART Maintenance Standard Operating Procedures govern 
maintenance practices.  
 
9.1.2. Rule Books  

The Bus Operator Handbook and the Paratransit Operator Handbook are both a procedures 
manual and a rule book. Both are designed to be an instructive guide to promote safety and 
efficiency in day-to-day operations. The subjects covered do not address all possible situations 
or circumstances that are encountered but attempt to cover those encountered often.  
 
9.1.3. Proficiency Testing – Operators  

The Operational Safety Checks Program serves as the foundation for observing, correcting, and 
documenting safety related behaviors and activities. It is also used to re-enforce positive safety 
behaviors. Operations Supervisors, Training Instructors and the Safety and Training Specialist are 
responsible for conducting periodic field and on-board bus and rail operations safety checks. 
Operations Supervisors and Training Instructors board buses to observe and evaluate adherence 
to rules, policies and procedures, verbal or written instructions, reroutes, and speed limit 
compliance. Safety checks are recorded on “In-Service Evaluation Sheets/Bus Safety Ride 
Check” forms. Operations Supervisors and Training Instructors are authorized to take appropriate 
and immediate actions if indicated by the situation.  
 
The results of the safety ride checks are forwarded to the appropriate Transportation Manager 
and Training Manager for review and follow-up to correct any identified deficiencies.   
 
9.1.4. Proficiency Testing Test Records and Trend Analysis  

Records of Bus Operator proficiency tests are kept by the Training Department.  
The results of Proficiency Testing serve as a data source in the Hazard Management Process. 
Trend analyses of all operational safety ride check activities and proficiency tests are performed 
in order to determine revisions needed to the training and safety program activities and other 
areas requiring improvement. The analyses are reviewed at Safety Committee meetings.  
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 62



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   42 | P a g e  
 

9.1.5. Transit Asset Management  

Consistent with its mission of “enriching lives, connecting communities, expanding opportunities,” 
DART offers a wide array of mobility options for the central Iowa region. To fulfill the agency’s 
mission and address safety objectives and strategic priorities, DART must effectively manage and 
maintain assets in a State of Good Repair (SGR). As part of MAP-21 and the subsequent Fixing 
America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act, the Federal Transit Authority (FTA) enacted 
regulations that require transit service providers to establish asset management performance 
measures, performance targets, and to develop a Transit Asset Management (TAM) plan. 
 
The final TAM Rule was published on July 26, 2016 and went into effect on October 1, 2016. The 
rule itself amended the United States (U.S.) Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Title 49 Parts 625 
and 630, which relate to TAM and the National Transit Database (NTD) respectively. FTA requires 
transit providers to update TAM Plans in their entirety at least once every four years. DART’s asset 
management approach is consistent with current FTA’s regulations and provides a direction for 
compliance given the level of available funding.  
 
DART’s Transit Asset Management Plan was adopted on October 2, 2018 and updated in 
September of 2022, it can be viewed at:  
https://www.ridedart.com/sites/default/files/about-dart/about-dart/8B1%20-
%20TAM%20Plan%20and%20Policy%20Update%20FY2022%20Complete%20combined.pdf  
 
9.2. Notification Thresholds  

 
9.2.1. State and Federal Notification  

Notification requirements are provided in federal regulations, and additional guidance has 
been provided by FTA: 

 Federal Regulation – 49 CFR Part 674.7 and 674.33  

 FTA Guidance – Two-Hour Accident Notification Guide, 
https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/safety/two-hour-accident-
notification-guide-0  

 NTD Safety & Security (S&S) Reporting Manual, 
https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/ntd/69096/2018-safety-and-
security-policy-manual.pdf The Safety Department will immediately, (within 2 hours) notify 
Iowa DOT by telephone, followed by a fax report, of any incident resulting in the 
following:  

 
(DART Reportable Event Notification Process:  If the safety event is reportable to the FTA 
(49 CFR Part 674), DART will notify FTA with initial information, as required by FTA.)  

 

Notification Topics FTA  
Fatalities  One or more fatalities within 30 days of 

safety event  
Injuries  One or more serious injuries  
Property Damage  Substantial damage only for collisions with 

a person, object, or at a grade crossing  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 63

https://www.ridedart.com/sites/default/files/about-dart/about-dart/8B1%20-%20TAM%20Plan%20and%20Policy%20Update%20FY2022%20Complete%20combined.pdf
https://www.ridedart.com/sites/default/files/about-dart/about-dart/8B1%20-%20TAM%20Plan%20and%20Policy%20Update%20FY2022%20Complete%20combined.pdf


 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   43 | P a g e  
 

  
9.2.2. Safety Department Notifications 

DART Dispatch notifies the Safety Department of all injury and collision accidents as soon a 
reasonably possible.  Events that meet the following thresholds are reported immediately: 

 Any accident or injury event that is NTD reportable 

 Any pedestrian contact, no matter the severity 

 Any violent assault involving a weapon or causing physical harm 

 Any incident that attracts media attention 

 Any incident or issue causing significant delays or disruptions of service  
 
The Safety Department will then initiate the DART Major Incident Phone Tree and notify Executive 
leadership.   
 
9.2.3. Accident Investigation, Notification, Reporting and Corrective Action 

Plans 

Formal investigations shall be conducted for all bus accidents. All accidents are investigated by 
either Operations Supervisor, Maintenance Supervisor, Transportation Manager, Maintenance 
Supervisor, or Safety Manager. If the bus accident damage is minor, personnel are unavailable 
or certain weather conditions exist, operators may be instructed by Dispatch or law 
enforcement personnel to complete an accident report and an Operations Supervisor will be 
assigned to complete the accident investigation. Accident investigations are to be completed 
in accordance with DART Standard Operating Procedures – Accident Investigation.  
 
Serious bus accidents will be investigated by the Accident Investigation Team consisting of the 
following members: Lead Supervisor, Lead Dispatcher/Assistant Transportation Manager, Finance 
Manager, Training Manager, Transportation Manager, Maintenance Manager, Safety and 
Training Specialist, and the Safety Manager.   
 
Lessons learned and information gathered from accident investigations is compared against 
DART Standard Operating Procedures, Bus Operator Training Manuals (Fixed Route and 
Paratransit) and the Behind the Wheel training program guidelines to determine if there was 
deviation from DART training and guidance or whether the accident was the result of some 
other cause either controllable or not controllable by the bus operators. Should it be determined 
that a change in procedure or training is required to prevent a similar accident from 
reoccurring, a Corrective Action Plan will be issued.  
 
9.3. Internal Safety Audit Program 
DART will establish procedures to audit all aspects of the ASP. 
 
9.4. Procurement and System Modifications 
Modifications to the system may be proposed by any user or department within DART, or may be 
initiated by DART Management, including Safety. A coordinated process of safety review 
(design, plan and procedure review) is required prior to any changes and modifications to the 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 64



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   44 | P a g e  
 

DART transportation system. This applies to all modifications, including but not limited to the 
following:  

 New, extended, or upgraded service or routes.  

 New or retrofitted rolling stock, or non-revenue vehicles and equipment.  

 New or refurbished facilities.  

 New or revised emergency operating procedures.  

 Safety-related policies and procedures.  
 
DART does not have its own engineering or design department. All safety reviews of system 
modifications, which involve design of new systems, facilities, and facilities equipment or major 
changes to existing systems, facilities, and facilities equipment are coordinated with external 
subject matter experts and procured through the procurement department. Safety reviews of 
minor system modifications for projects or equipment are coordinated by the Maintenance and 
Procurement Departments with the Safety Department.  
 
Safety assurance of new systems and equipment begin with the basic designs, and in the 
development of specifications to ensure that safety requirements and standards are 
incorporated. Safety reviews are held to ensure that proposed designs meet safety 
requirements. Consideration is given to such items as system interfaces, human factors, 
environmental conditions, isolation of energy sources, materials compatibility, use and long-term 
storage of critical material, emergency response capability, including emergency egress and 
rescue paths, fire sources and measures for protection, equipment layout, lighting requirements, 
and maintenance requirements. In these reviews maximum use is made of existing data, 
reliability analyses, and other applicable design analyses and information. 
  
Testing is performed on critical components and assemblies as indicated in safety reviews to 
identify and eliminate potential hazards. The inherent safety of equipment and its impact on 
DART systems are demonstrated during system test and demonstration efforts. A formal process 
of hazard identification, analysis and resolution is conducted during the safety review.  
 
The review cycle shall include but not be limited to the members of DART’s Safety Committee, as 
applicable to their areas of responsibility, the scope and nature of proposed change, and the 
affected system elements (facilities, equipment, etc.). In all cases the review cycle for system 
modification includes, at a minimum, the appropriate representative from the:  

 Safety Department  

 Maintenance Department 

 Facilities Department 

 Planning Department 

 Procurement Department 

 Training Department  
 
External review of system modifications by outside agencies such as FTA, APTA, and Iowa DOT, 
are coordinated by the Safety Manager, as required.  
 
Comments from the internal and external review process are implemented or resolved prior to 
system modification and kept on file with disposition and supporting rationale. Unresolved 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 65



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   45 | P a g e  
 

comments and exceptions to proposed modifications of the system offered by the reviewers, 
are addressed by the Safety Manager, Maintenance Manager, Chief Planning Officer, or the 
Procurement Manager, as applicable. Additionally, all major modifications to DART systems 
require approval and sign-off by the Chief Executive Officer.  
 
9.4.1. Contractor Safety Coordination  

DART expects all  contractors to perform their work in a safe manner, comply with all 
environmental safety and health requirements of the contract documents as issued by DART, 
and comply with all applicable laws, codes, ordinances, rules, regulations, and lawful orders of 
all public authorities.  
 

  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 66



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   46 | P a g e  
 

10. Safety Promotion 
 
The fourth pillar of the Public Transportation Agency Safety plan is Safety Promotion. Training is a 
major area of concentration for DART and DART has developed a number of programs and/or 
opportunities to address the need for safety training.   
 
10.1. Training  
Training tasks include but are not limited to the following:  

 Integrate safety requirements into training programs.  

 Provide feedback to various departments on procedures, rules, designs, and operating 
conditions as a result of training experiences.  

 Help validate safety training effectiveness to assure that training objectives have been 
met.  

 Identify training objectives and participate in safety drills and simulations.  

 Design and conduct new operator training/qualification training to ensure that all 
operators are aware of hazards in the system, are familiar with emergency procedures, 
and meet operating performance standards.  

 Review and update training materials at least every three years to comply with 
operating policies and procedures and results of safety analysis.  

 Contribute to information in operating and maintenance manuals and Emergency 
Operations Procedures (EOPs).  

 Establish selection standards for instructors that include safety performance and 
knowledge of safety policies and procedures.  

 Establish formal procedures for evaluating student understanding of safety rules and 
procedures as well as actual demonstration of correct techniques at an acceptable 
level of performance.  

 Develop and maintain a short-range and long-range training plan that identifies what 
programs will be provided and to how many personnel.  

 Design and conduct new and continuing staff training to ensure that all maintenance 
staff are familiar with shop safety rules and procedures, oriented to the location of safety 
equipment in their assigned facility, and aware of preventive maintenance and repair 
procedures.  

 Facilitate training on DART’s safety program to all new employees.  

 Assist with providing safety training for outside agencies and contractors.  

 Includes special training for responding to the needs of elderly and disabled riders as 
part of training programs for all operating and support personnel.  

 Design and implement a basic defensive driving program required for all DART 
employees who may be assigned to operate non-revenue equipment.  

 Establish procedures for safety certifications that include identifying who is authorized to 
do training and set proficiency standards.  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 67



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   47 | P a g e  
 

Training and certifications required for mechanics is controlled during the hiring process, with 
minimum requirements, background checks, and testing verifying employee training and 
competence. All entry-level mechanics undergo DART mechanical training to ensure 
competence for DART maintenance tasks. Testing is required to demonstrate proficiency for 
advanced mechanics positions such as HVAC or electrical mechanics. 
  
A Facility Maintenance training program is currently being implemented to improve the skills and 
knowledge of the facilities staff and ensure that all employees are provided the training and 
resources required to complete their jobs efficiently and effectively. Currently, Facility 
Maintenance personnel are only provided DART safety training.  
 
The Human Resources Department monitors employee driver’s license status. The Human 
Resources Department is required to verify that each employee has a valid driver’s license. The 
Human Resources Department checks licenses for all employees on a regular basis.  
 
10.1.1. Bus Operator Training  

Bus operators must complete a five- to seven-week training program. The program includes 
segments on DART rules and general operating guidelines, the Smith System defensive driving 
course, familiarization with the various models of buses and related equipment and all bus routes 
before entering service. During the classroom portion of training, a series of written tests are 
given to judge the candidates progress. If needed, DART provides training for the candidate in 
order for them to obtain the required CDL.  
 
The keystone in any program for safe bus operations is the training of bus operators. Several of 
the bus operations training practices are described here in some detail. 
  
Bus Operator training consists of in-class instruction with DART’s Training Manager along with 
assistance from behind-the-wheel trainers. Their responsibilities are to train all new and current 
bus operators. Safety-related issues and procedures are covered throughout training. The 
instructors regularly develop training materials and routinely obtain and review information from 
other bus transit systems.  
 
Refresher training is done for Operators on a biennial basis. This is a two-day class that is 
changed every 2 years. The bus instructors also provide training for certain non-operator bus 
employees. Classes are given for initial job training, new equipment/procedures, or refresher 
training. Training for supervisors varies according to need. CDL training is provided for 
Mechanics, Service Personnel and Facilities Maintenance personnel.  
 
10.1.2. Bus Maintenance Technician Training 

The Bus Maintenance Technician Program is described in the DART Vehicle Maintenance 
Technician Program document. 
 
10.1.3. All Employee Training 

All DART personnel will receive training to become familiar with Safety Management Systems. 
The training will include: 

 Safety Management Systems Overview 

 Safety Reporting 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 68



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   48 | P a g e  
 

 Risk Management 

 Safety Assurance Practices 

 Employee Roles and Responsibilities 
 
The Bipartisan Infrastructure Bill requires DART to provide de-escalation training to safety, 
operations, and maintenance personnel.  At DART the following positions have been identified 
as those that will receive the training: 

 All Operations staff 

 Customer Service staff 

 Human Resources, Training, and Safety staff 

 Managers and supervisors 

 Other customer facing staff 

 
DART employees and contractor personnel, whether construction or service contractors, are 
required to be in compliance with applicable DART rules and standard operating procedures as 
well as local, state, and federal safety regulations. Service contractors who perform specific jobs 
under contract are required to be in compliance with specific safety or environmental laws that 
are or may be affected by their work. 
 
To comply with OSHA regulations, the Safety Department develops safety policies and 
procedures for occupational safety in compliance with OSHA guidelines.  Regular training 
sessions are conducted with affected employees based on job hazard analysis.  
 
Annual refresher training is conducted for high hazard areas such as confined spaces and 
lockout/tagout (LOTO). Safety staff conducts the training.  
 
The Safety Department also develops policies for environmental compliance. Contractors are 
responsible to train their employees on OSHA-required training prior to performing DART projects. 
Other related training that contract and DART employees will be current on include the 
following: 

 Hazard communication 

 Blood-borne pathogen awareness 

 Hazardous energy control (LOTO) general safety awareness 

 Work-required training for safety sensitive employees and contractors 

 
10.1.4. Training Records  

The Safety Department will maintain paper and/or electronic training records for the following 
items: 

 Blood borne pathogens 

 Hazardous communications 

 Lockout tag out 

 Forklift certification 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 69

Daly, Patrick
Too much?  x

Presutti, Elizabeth
You could simplify the list slightly to just list departments 

Daly, Patrick
Done



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   49 | P a g e  
 

 
Records of all training, except as noted above, conducted by DART are maintained by the 
Training Department. 
  
Safety specific training is tracked by the Training Department to ensure all employees receive 
the safety training required for their job classification.  
 
The Human Resources Department tracks the status of Operator medical cards and CDL status 
as required by the U.S. DOT.  
 
10.1.5. Compliance with Training and Certification Requirements  

The Safety Department conducts audits of training and certification requirements. 
 
The following employee job classifications perform work that requires safety training and/or 
certification:  

 Bus Operator 

 Vehicle Maintenance 

 Vehicle Service 

 Facility Maintenance 

 Operations Supervisor 

 Dispatchers 
 
DART recognizes the FTA Transportation Safety Institute (TSI) to administer Transit Safety and 
Security Program (TSSP) certification for all safety department staff at DART. All safety staff will 
complete the TSSP within the first two years of their safety assignment. This certification involves 
the successful completion of the Transit Safety and Security Program Certificate as outlined by 
TSI training manual. Courses required are: 

 Transit Bus System Safety  

 Bus Incident Investigation  

 Transit System Security 

 Effectively Managing Transit Emergencies 

 
10.1.6. Compliance with Local, State, and Federal Safety Requirements  

Safety Program for Employees and Contractors  

DART is committed to the safety and health of its employees and contractors who work within 
the DART system. DART has developed an Occupational Safety and Health Program and 
Construction Safety Program in conformance with applicable local, state, and federal 
regulations. The programs emphasize the recognition, evaluation, and control of hazards arising 
from the occupational and construction project environments.  
 
Occupational Safety and Health Program  

The Occupational Safety and Health Program is directed toward achieving a safe working 
environment for employees and minimizing the likelihood of occupational related injuries and 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 70



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   50 | P a g e  
 

illnesses. The program is based on, and complies with applicable Federal, State, and Local 
safety codes and regulations, including OSHA. Procedures have been established for the control 
of operating hazards, including but not limited to electrical, chemicals, noise, falls from heights, 
cut and abrasion injuries, and strain and sprain injuries. On-the-job training of DART employees is 
emphasized to recognize hazards and to promote occupational safety and health practices. 

Attention is given to the need for, and proper use of, PPE  and clothing as required by the work 
being performed as well as adherence to standard operating procedures, routine 
comprehensive industrial hygiene surveys and industrial safety inspections are conducted by the 
Safety Department to ensure that health and safety hazards in the workplace are identified and 
controlled.  
 
Construction Safety Program  

Construction Safety is administered in accordance with contract specifications, and applicable 
Federal (OSHA), state and local safety requirements. DART does not have a dedicated 
engineering or construction department.  Dependent on the scope of the project, DART may 
employ a third-party as a subject matter expert (SME) for construction project safety 
management. DART Rules and Procedures are included in each construction contract. 
Compliance with these rules and procedures is required of all contractors performing work on 
the operating system. Contractors are required to comply with all local, state, and applicable 
OSHA construction standards for the safety of their own employees as well as to safeguard DART 
employees, contractors, passengers and the public.  
 
Procurement and Buildings and Grounds Departments approve the contractor’s safety program 
plan and supporting documentation, with the concurrence of the Safety Department. Emphasis 
is placed on work that may affect DART operations, passengers, facilities, and personnel audits 
of the contractors are conducted to assure compliance with federal and state law, and DART 
requirements.  
 
Fire Protection  

Fire protection testing is coordinated by the Maintenance Manager. Life safety requirements for 
DART facilities are coordinated by the Safety and Maintenance Departments.  Fire protection 
testing results and conformance with the life safety requirements are reviewed by the Safety 
Department. Compliance with fire protection requirements is audited through emergency drills, 
inspections, incident investigations and periodic testing of fire protection and fire suppression 
systems. Training activities are monitored for content and accomplishment and the fire 
insurance carrier also conducts tests of water supplies for fire protection and monitors physical 
conditions and compliance with related procedures to minimize both the probability and 
severity of potential fire.  
 
Hazardous Substances Program  

DART’s objective is to provide the safest product available and minimize the risks associated with 
hazardous substances. Accordingly, DART has established a comprehensive program for the 
control of hazardous substances used, including the disposal of waste, in accordance with 
IOWA DNR and environmental requirements. The DART Hazard Communication Program details 
the process for purchasing, receiving, and using hazardous substances at DART. 
  
Such information is provided in the Safety Department’s Hazard Communication Standard 
Operating Procedures, Hazard Communication Compliance Assessment, and Safety Data 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 71



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   51 | P a g e  
 

Sheets. The Safety Department approves Safety Data Sheets for all chemicals and other 
potentially hazardous substances that are being considered for purchase and use.  
 
Follow-up is conducted on the field use of approved products to ensure safe/proper handling 
methods are utilized. Additionally, all employees who may use hazardous substances receive 
training and toolbox talks on the safe use and disposal of the products. Follow-up is conducted 
on the field use of approved products to ensure safe/proper handling methods are utilized. An 
electronic database of SDSs is maintained on-line for all affected personnel and for compliance 
to the OSHA Standard. Some hazardous substances require permits on a 3-year cycle by the City 
of Des Moines. Facility Maintenance management ensure these permits are kept current. 
 
10.2. Safety Communication 
Information about hazards and safety risks that arise after an employees’ initial training is 
conveyed in multiple ways, using a variety of media. Among those methods are: 

 Bus Operator Safety Meetings 

 Maintenance, Service, and Buildings and Grounds Safety Meetings 

 Maintenance Toolbox Talks 

 Texts to Buses 

 Safety Campaigns 

 Flyers 

 Video Monitors in Lounges and Breakrooms 
 

Safety performance reports are submitted by the Safety Manager, on request by the CEO or 
Commission, as well as being an agenda item at Bus Operators Safety Meetings, Maintenance 
Department Safety meetings, Operations Department staff meetings, Human Resources 
Department staff meetings, and quarterly Administrative Staff meetings. 

  
10.2.1. Marketing and Media Relations Tasks  

The External Affairs Department coordinates news releases regarding safety, including accidents 
and incidents, with the Safety Department. Additional tasks include:  

 Coordinating user education programs for regular and special need riders on how to use 
the transit system and safety features with the Safety Department and Bus operations 
staff.  

 Establishing standard public notification procedures about temporary service changes, 
new boarding locations, etc.  

 Providing press releases and human-interest stories about positive safety events and 
incentive program recipients.  

 
10.2.2. Maintenance Toolbox Talks  

Maintenance Toolbox Talks are safety-driven information sessions that are provided on at least a 
monthly basis to front-line personnel. The purpose of these sessions is to educate employees on 
important safety topics, such as PPE requirements, wellness incentives, workplace illnesses, and 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 72



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   52 | P a g e  
 

hazard awareness, among others. District supervisors utilize monthly subjects distributed by the 
Safety Department as well as their own subjects relevant to the specifics of the work.  
 
10.2.3. Safety Bulletins  

Safety Bulletins are short newsletters drafted by the Safety Department that detail safety 
particulars of immediate concern. Examples of safety bulletins include hazards, product safety 
recalls, procedures, emergency information and more. Safety bulletins are created on an as-
need basis and are distributed internally.  
 
10.2.4. Break Room Monitors 

Both the DART Way and DART Central Station break rooms are equipped with large computer 
monitors. These monitors act as mechanisms for DART management to communicate important 
safety information to their personnel.  The monitors can display safety-related videos, safety 
bulletins, safety data, safety meeting summaries, and other general news. Statistics on 
preventable collisions, on-the-job injuries, and other pertinent statistics are updated on a 
monthly basis.  
 
10.2.5. Safety Posters  

The Safety Department provides safety posters on a rotating basis to address seasonal and 
annual safety and emergency response information.  Also displayed may be poster relating to 
new safety GOGs, initiatives, equipment, and or procedures.  
 
10.2.6. Work Assignment Job Safety Briefings  

Work Assignment Job Safety Briefings are used to ensure that all employees assigned to perform 
a specific task understand the hazards associated with the work to be performed. These are 
critical to conducting work in a safe manner. These briefings may be conducted in the field or 
other designated areas prior to commencing any work, regardless if the work is considered 
routine or if it is considered complicated. Supervisory staff are responsible for conducting these 
briefings, and employees are responsible for ensuring that the work plans are carried out as 
described in the briefings. The Safety Department provides the Work Assignment Job Safety 
Briefing Standard Operating Procedure. 
 
10.2.7. Safety Awareness  

All employees are responsible for system security through general awareness and accountability. 
Employees are encouraged to report all suspicious activities at passenger and operations 
facilities, and to be cognizant of individuals trailing them into restricted areas. Terrorist Awareness 
Recognition and Reaction Training and Active Shooter Training are part of the general safety 
training provided to all employees.  
 
10.2.8. Safety Performance Awards 

Individual bus operator, maintenance technician, and service personnel safe driving is 
recognized in two ways: 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 73



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   53 | P a g e  
 

 At the annual safety banquet:  

 Measured on the fiscal year, staff that had no preventable accidents for the fiscal 
year are recognized.   

 Staff that have had no preventable accident for 10 consecutive years or more are 
recognized.  

 At monthly safety meetings 

 Bus Operators are recognized for accumulated years of safe driving with no 
preventable accidents.  This is based on a rolling 12-month period beginning on their 
hire date.  The date resets to the date of any preventable accident.  

 
10.2.9. Hazard, Employee Safe Reporting, and Safety Suggestion Box Feedback 

The status and disposition of hazard reports, employee safety reporting, and safety suggestions 
submitted will be updated monthly and will be available for employees to view in the following 
methods: 

 Hazard Reports 

 An electronic status file will be placed on the computers available in the DART Way 
operators lounge. 

 A printout of status will be placed on the shelf above the run sheets at DART Way 

 A .pdf copy will be emailed to all administrative employees  

 Employee Safety Reporting 

 The outcome and findings will be discussed with the individual employee.  If 
appropriate, lessons learned, guidelines and/or policy changes resulting from the 
report will be communicated via the methods outlined at the beginning of this 
section. 

 Safety Suggestions 

Once the safety committee picks the monthly safety suggestion winner, all the safety suggestion 
received for the month, along with a picture of the employee that submitted the winning 
suggestion will be posted on the Safety Board at DART Way. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 74



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   54 | P a g e  
 

 

Appendix A 
DART Safety Committee Charter 
Established: July 2022 
Last Updated:  
 

Purpose 

The Des Moines Area Transit Authority (DART) mission is to enrich lives, connect communities and 
expand opportunities for those we serve.  As we work to fulfill our mission, safety is a key 
component to our overall strategy and decision-making process.  Safety affects all aspects of 
the DART organization including operations, maintenance, planning, design, procurement, and 
training. Therefore, all DART staff members are charged with the responsibility of promoting the 
safety and security of customers, fellow employees, and the general public who interact with 
the DART system. 
 
The purpose of DART’s Safety committee is to bring together equal numbers of frontline 
employee representatives and management representatives, in a joint labor-management 
process to work together to seek out and address conditions and situations that present an 
unacceptable risk to DART employees, passengers, the public, DART property and equipment, 
and the environment.   

Scope 

The Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL) signed by President Biden on November 15, 2021 includes 
changes to the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan (ASP) that adds a requirement that 
DART establish a Safety Committee.  Further, the law outlines certain responsibilities of the Safety 
Committee.  Those responsible are: 

• Identifying and recommending risk-based mitigations or strategies necessary to reduce 
the likelihood and severity of consequences identified through the agency’s safety risk 
assessment. 

• Identifying mitigations or strategies that may be ineffective, inappropriate, or were not 
implemented as intended. 

• Identifying safety deficiencies for purposes of continuous improvement. 

• Establish performance targets for the risk reduction program. 

• Approve annual updates to the ASP prior to it being submitted for DART In Commission 
for annual approval.  
 

In addition to the duties required by the BIL, the Safety Committee may also: 

• Review DART accidents and incidents and make recommendations to reduce 
reoccurrence.  

 
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 75



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   55 | P a g e  
 

 
• Review Safety Risk Assessments conducted and make recommendations for resolving 

risks rated medium, due to injury potential, serious or high.  

• Make recommendations regarding safety policies and procedures. 

• Evaluate employee submitted “safety suggestions” 

• Participate in the development and implementation of efforts related to safety 
promotion and other efforts related to DART’s Public Transportation ASP. 

 

Structure 

DART’s Safety Committee will be comprised of the Safety Manager, the Safety and Training 
Specialist, and representatives of labor and management from a wide cross section of 
functional DART areas: 
  

• Fixed Route Transportation 

• Mobility Services (Paratransit, DART On Demand, On Call and Flex Connect) 

• Maintenance 

• Facilities  

• Human Resources 

• Customer Service  

• Procurement 

• Planning 

• Marketing and Communications 

Front-line employee representatives can volunteer or selected to participate on the committee; 
all front-line participants will be agreed upon by the Committee Chair and ATU Local 441 
President. Should a front-line employee representative position on the committee be vacant 
and no one from that functional area volunteers for the position, the position may be filled by 
seeking a volunteer from the other functional areas represented on the committee.  First 
consideration will be given to Mobility Services, Maintenance, and Fixed Route, in that order.  
Management Representatives can volunteer or be selected to participate on the Committee 
based on a recommendation of the Chair in coordination with the Executive Sponsor. Each 
representative will serve a continuous term of at least one year.    
 
The Committee will operate on DART’s fiscal year calendar.  Committee membership will be 
examined in April of each year to determine continued participation.   Anyone not wanting to 
continue serving on the committee should let the chair know at this time so that new committee 
members can be selected by July 1. 

 
Monthly meetings will be held in person and can be attended virtually if needed. Committee 
members are asked to serve at least 1-year commitments with the ability to serve longer if the 
member desires.  A voting member may serve a maximum of 5-years.  
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 76



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   56 | P a g e  
 

The DART Safety Committee provides a safe place for discussion where differences are 
respected and encouraged. The Committee should make the most of members’ unique and 
diverse perspectives and be willing to listen and consider different opinions and approaches. 
  

Committee Staff 
Chief Human Resources Officer – Executive Sponsor 
Safety Manager - Chair 
Safety and Training Specialist - Secretary 

Management Representatives Front-Line Employee Representatives 
Fixed Route Manager   Fixed Route Operator  
Mobility Services Manager  Fixed Route Operator 
Fleet Manager  Mobility Services Operator 
Facilities Manager Maintenance Staff Member 
Finance Department Designee Facilities Staff Member 
Human Resources Department Designee Parts Staff Member 
External Affairs Designee Customer Service Representative 
Planning Department Designee Administrative Assistant 

Roles and Responsibilities 

• Executive Sponsor – Chief Human Resources Officer 

o Actively promote safety throughout the organization 

o Provide business context and guidance to the committee chair and the entire 
committee. 

o Ensure resource capacity, secure funding, and communicate project priority within the 
organization. 

o Act as an escalation point and help to resolve issues beyond the chair. 

• Committee Chair – Safety Manager, non-voting 

o Actively promote safety throughout the organization 

o Champion the committee, including advocating and securing support from leadership. 

o Ensure committee is meeting regularly and addressing required responsibilities. 

o Provide committee members with necessary information to make informed decisions. 

o Report on committee activities and progress monthly to the Leadership Team. 

• Committee Secretary – Safety and Training Specialist, non-voting 

o Actively promote safety throughout the organization 

o Take accurate meeting minutes for committee approval. 

o In the absence of the chair, assume the duties of the chair. 

o Schedules meetings, reserves meeting rooms, and arranges for room set-up. 

• Committee Members 

o Actively promote safety throughout the organization and serve as a liaison back to their 
department on safety related issues. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 77



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3 ,  2 0 2 3   57 | P a g e  
 

o Committee members are active and engaged participants at committee meetings, 
committed to being appropriately informed and prepared before meetings so they can 
contribute to the decision-making process.  

o Solicit ideas and feedback from staff in their functional work area. 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 78



 
Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan   
 

J a n u a r y  3  2 0 2 3             58 | P a g e  
 

 

Appendix B – DART Organization Chart 
  
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 79



CONSENT ITEM 
 
7E: Transit Riders Advisory Committee (TRAC) Membership 

Action: Approve the two recommended new TRAC members to begin terms 
in January 2023. 

Staff Resource: Catlin Curry, Mobility Coordinator 

 
BACKGROUND: 

• Following the reconstitution of the DART Commission, the Transit Riders Advisory Committee 
(TRAC) was restructured to reflect these changes and now consists of 11 members who utilize 
DART Fixed Route and Mobility Services. 

• In 2022, the DART Commission and TRAC approved further changes to the structure of the 
committee representation to be more inclusive of new services such as DART on Demand.  

• The committee meets monthly and seeks to represent key constituencies such as veterans, 
refugees, senior citizens, students and more. DART staff are seeking approval from the DART 
Commission of two (2) new members. 

• Additional recruitment will continue to fill remaining open slots on the committee, and those 
selected will be brought back at a future DART Commission meeting for approval.  

• The DART Executive Committee reviewed the proposed TRAC member recommendations 
outlined below and had no concerns. 
 

CURRENT MEMBERSHIP: 

Name Membership City of Residence Term Expiration 
Kirk Gustafson Fixed Route (Express) Des Moines 12/31/2024 
Kaylynn Strain Fixed Route (Local) Des Moines 12/31/2024 
Jeremy Guenther Fixed Route (Express) Urbandale 6/30/2026 
Vacant Fixed Route  TBD 
Vacant Fixed Route  TBD 
Brandon Paulson At-Large Des Moines 12/31/2024 
Vacant At-Large  TBD 
Vacant At-large  TBD 
Justin Bates Mobility Services (Paratransit) Des Moines 12/31/2024 
James Hanold Mobility Services (Paratransit) West Des Moines 6/30/2026 
Vacant Mobility Services   TBD 

 
APPLICATION PROCESS: 

• Utilized previous applications and rider outreach to recruit riders who have an interest in serving 
on the committee.  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 80



CONSENT ITEM 
7E Transit Riders Advisory Committee (TRAC) Membership 
 
• Online and paper application were made available publicly through a variety of methods. 

This included social media posts and targeted email outreach and on bus promotion.  

• To determine a recommended slate, staff took into consideration strategic needs to ensure 
TRAC reflects a broad cross-section of DART customers, member communities and key 
constituencies.  
 

PROPOSED NEW TRAC MEMBERS: 

First 
Name 

Last 
Name City Representation Description  Slate 

MaryAnn Ryan Des 
Moines 

Fixed Route 
(Local & 
Express) 

Uses Local Route 52, 60, 3, 
11, 72 and Express Routes 92 
and 93. DART rider for 10+ 
years. Uses DART to get to 
work at a hotel in West Des 
Moines.  

Proposed 
New Member 

Leola Jasinski Ankeny Mobility 
Services (DOD) 

Uses both DART On Demand 
and Paratransit. Started using 
DART to save money on gas. 
Wants to help solicit 
feedback from other riders to 
continue to improve service.  

Proposed 
New Member 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

• Approve the two recommended new TRAC members, knowing that additional recruitment 
will be happening to fill the remaining open slots on the committee.  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 81



CONSENT ITEM 
 

7F: Interim CEO Signing Authority 

Action: 

Authorize and approve Sheri Kyras (interim CEO of DART) signing 
authority on behalf of DART, to allow for the continuity and 
continuation of DART business throughout the transition period until a 
new CEO is hired. 

Staff Resource: Paul Drey, DART Legal Counsel 

 
Background: 

• With the departure of the current Chief Executive Officer on January 31, 2023, a review of 
administrative authority was needed to determine if Commission action at the January 3, 
2023, meeting was needed to allow for a smooth transition of duties between the current 
and Interim Chief Executive Officer.  This review was performed by DART’s Legal Counsel. 

• Based on legal counsel review, the current CEO of DART has authority to sign and execute 
certain documents on behalf of DART.  Since Sheri Kyras, is now the interim CEO, it is desirous 
to clarify and to authorize her during the transition period to have similar signing authority on 
behalf of DART until a new CEO is hired.  

• The types of documents requiring CEO authority include: financial, legal, contracts, etc.  
 
Recommendation:   

• The recommendation is to authorize and approve Sheri Kyras, as interim CEO of DART, to 
have signing authority on behalf of DART that is, and has been previously, authorized to the 
CEO of DART, so as to allow for the continuity and continuation of DART business in a 
seamless fashion throughout the transition period until a new CEO is hired. 

 

 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 82



ACTION ITEM 
 

7G: November 2022 Consolidated Financial Report 

Action: Approve the November 2022 Consolidated Financial Report 

Staff Resource: Amber Dakan, Finance Manager 

Year-to-Date Budget Highlights: 

Revenue: 
• Fixed Route Operating revenue is exceeding budget by 18.8% year to date.  This is a 

reflection of increased Other Contracted Revenue dollars, additional revenue in School 
Funding and higher Mobile ticket sales. 

• Fixed Route Non-Operating revenue is under budget by 14.1% primarily due to a timing issue 
on grant funding. A grant draw is planned for December. 

• Paratransit Operating revenue is exceeding budget by 1.4%.  Mobile Ticketing revenue is 
exceeding budget in addition to Other Contracted Services and Polk County Funding 
meeting budget expectations. 

• Paratransit Non-Operating revenue is 33.3% under budget year to date resulting from 
drawdown grant fund timing. 

• Rideshare revenues is under budget by approximately 28.4% year to date. Rideshare is 
currently working to implement new rider management software that is aimed to make the 
program more easily scalable.  

 Operating Expense: 
• Fixed Route Budget Summary – Operating expenses are seeing a 2.3% savings from 

projections.  Services and Fuel & Lubricants are seeing the most savings. 
• Paratransit Budget Summary – Operating expenses are seeing a budget savings of 11% year 

to date.  Salaries, Wages, and Fringes and Purchased Transportation is seeing the largest 
savings year to date. 

• Rideshare Budget Summary – Rideshare has a budget savings of 7.4% year to date.  Services 
and Equipment Repair Parts are seeing the largest savings to date. 

Recommendation: 
• Approve the November FY2023 Consolidated Financial Report. 

  
** TOTAL Un-Audited Performance of November FY2023 Year to Date as Compared to Budget:     

 
Fixed Route $      (1,167,999)       Reserve for Accidents (See Balance Sheet): 

      Paratransit $         (296,809)                                                        $415,255.89      
 Rideshare         $           (97,755)  
           Total  $       (1,562,563)   

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 83



FY2023 Financials:

FIXED ROUTE

Actual Budgeted Variance Actual Budgeted Variance

Operating Revenue 291,245        361,371          (70,126)         2,146,195              1,806,854           339,341        
Non-Operating Revenue 1,922,169     2,614,763       (692,594)       11,228,105            13,073,817         (1,845,711)    
      Subtotal 2,213,414     2,976,134       (762,720)       13,374,300            14,880,671         (1,506,371)    
Operating Expenses 2,749,220     2,976,134       226,914        14,542,300            14,880,671         338,371        
       Gain/(Loss) (535,806)       -                 (535,806)       (1,167,999)            -                      (1,167,999)    

PARATRANSIT
Actual Budgeted Variance Actual Budgeted Variance

Operating Revenue 49,679          50,880            (1,201)           257,827                 254,400              3,427            
Non-Operating Revenue 197,042        295,313          (98,272)         985,208                 1,476,567           (491,358)       
      Subtotal 246,721        346,193          (99,472)         1,243,035              1,730,967           (487,932)       
Operating Expenses 333,026        346,193          13,168          1,539,844              1,730,967           191,123        
       Gain/(Loss) (86,305)         -                 (86,305)         (296,809)               -                      (296,809)       

RIDESHARE
Actual Budgeted Variance Actual Budgeted Variance

Operating Revenue 19,813          33,333            (13,520)         119,381                 166,667              (47,286)         
Non-Operating Revenue 131               13,592            (13,461)         131                        67,958                (67,827)         
      Subtotal 19,944          46,925            (26,981)         119,512                 234,625              (115,113)       
Operating Expenses 54,324          46,925            (7,399)           217,267                 234,625              17,358          
       Gain/(Loss) (34,379)         -                 (34,379)         (97,755)                 -                      (97,755)         

SUMMARY
Actual Budgeted Variance Actual Budgeted Variance

Operating Revenue 360,738        445,584          (84,846)         2,523,403              2,227,921           295,482        
Non-Operating Revenue 2,119,342     2,923,668       (804,326)       12,213,445            14,618,342         (2,404,897)    
      Subtotal 2,480,080     3,369,253       (889,173)       14,736,847            16,846,263         (2,109,415)    
Operating Expenses 3,136,569     3,369,253       232,683        16,299,411            16,846,263         546,852        
       Gain/(Loss) (656,490)       -                 (656,490)       (1,562,563)            -                      (1,562,563)    

November 2022

November 2022 Year-To-Date-(5) Months Ending 11/30/2022

November 2022 Year-To-Date-(5) Months Ending 11/30/2022

November 2022 Year-To-Date-(5) Months Ending 11/30/2022

November 2022 Year-To-Date-(5) Months Ending 11/30/2022

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 84



PRESENTATION 
 

8A: Cornerstone State Legislative Update  

Staff Resource: Erin Hockman, Chief External Affairs Officer 

 
• David Adelman from Cornerstone, DART’s State Lobbyist, will be providing an update on 

strategies it is pursuing to achieve DART’s legislative priorities during the 2023 Legislative 
Session.   

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 85



ACTION ITEM 
 

9A: 2023 State Legislative Priorities 

Action: Approve the 2023 State Legislative Priorities 

Staff Resource: 
 
Erin Hockman, Chief External Affairs Officer  
 

Proposed Legislative Agenda: 

1. Funding Diversification 

DART is aggressively pursuing revenue diversification to reduce its reliance on property taxes 
and maintain an essential service for a growing region. DART was unsuccessful in advancing 
a local option transit hotel-motel tax during the 2022 session. Instead, the Legislature formed 
a DART Alterative Funding Advisory Committee that convened in October and November 
2022 to study DART funding and potential solutions. The final report filed provided to the Iowa 
General Assembly and Iowa Governor Kim Reynolds on December 15 is on the DOT’s 
website. Key findings from the study include: 

• If alternative revenue is not in place prior to fiscal year 2025, DART will have a deficit 
requiring a reduction in expenses that would have a significant, negative impact on 
central Iowans who rely on DART to get to work and other essential services.  

• A 2009 DOT funding study and the Iowa Public Transit 2050 Long Range Plan both 
identified a need for additional funding for public transit systems across the state.  

• Three funding solutions were presented for discussion, including: 

o 5% hotel-motel tax that would generate an estimated $17.5 million and reduce what 
is needed from the property tax levy to $13.7 million.  

o 0.125% sales tax would generate an estimated $15.9 million and reduce what is 
needed from the property tax levy to $15.2 million.  

o 0.25% sales tax would generate an estimated $31.9 million and replace the transit 
property tax levy entirely.  

The DART Commission prefers a transit hotel-motel tax because there is capacity to increase 
hotel-motel tax and remain competitive with other major midwestern cities and the growth 
of hotel-motel revenue year-to-year would minimize growth needed from property taxes.  

As potential funding solutions arise, staff and lobbyists will bring these options to the 
Executive Committee for approval before moving forward and will update the DART 
Commission accordingly.  

 
2. Medicaid  

DART is seeking ongoing regulatory and potential legislative engagement to ensure that the 
cost of transportation for trips previously funded by Medicaid are not transferred to local 
transit authorities, and thereby local property taxpayers.  
 
• Background: Prior to Medicaid modernization, DART worked directly with Iowa Medicaid 

to recover the full cost of a paratransit trip for Medicaid members, which at the time was 
$24.29 per passenger. DART Medicaid revenue has decreased cumulatively by more 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 86

https://iowadot.gov/dartaltfunding/Final-Report
https://iowadot.gov/dartaltfunding/Final-Report


ACTION ITEM 
9A: 2022 State Legislative Priorities 
 

than $5 million since Medicaid put in place a significant administrative change in 2017 
following the adoption of managed care. For example, revenue in FY22 was 
approximately $113,000 compared to $1.2 million in FY15.  
 
A significant number of trips have shifted from Medicaid reimbursement to the federally 
required ADA program, for which the fare is only $3.50 per trip. There is no additional 
revenue source for offering this mandated program that must be subsidized through 
DART’s budget. As a result, DART had to increase its property tax levy in fiscal year 2020                   
to cover the ongoing loss in revenue. This means local taxpayers are paying state taxes 
for Medicaid as well as paying more in local property taxes to offer the same number of 
paratransit trips as previously provided.                                                  
 
DART and the Iowa Public Transit Association (IPTA) have proposed several potential 
solutions to Iowa Medicaid, including: 

o Removing transportation from the tiered rate structure to ensure adequate 
reimbursement to support ongoing transportation services.  

o Improve coordination of trips, including a renewed focus on innovation and 
technology to ensure providers and brokers combine like trips. This could include 
providing public transit systems with the first right of refusal on all trips to leverage 
transit systems’ trip planning technology.  

o Work with Medicaid providers to ensure they understand how combining trips makes 
the system more efficient and how leveraging the ADA program instead of paying 
the Medicaid rate for a trip strains the long-term ability to provide transportation 
services.  

o Conduct a study of systemic needs similar to other states such as Minnesota to 
identify how to better support Medicaid recipients through transportation services.  

DART will continue legislative engagement as needed to move a potential solution 
forward.  
 

3. Monitoring Other Legislative Proposals, Providing Feedback on Bills of Impact  

DART closely monitors proposed legislation that may impact its operations and administration 
and provides feedback to lawmakers, and, at times, registers in support of or against bills. 
Staff will continue to update the DART Commission as proposed bills with potential significant 
impact arise. 

 
• Background: For example, in the 2021 legislative session a proposed biofuels bill would 

have impacted operations and costs related to DART fleets and how DART procures and 
stores fuel. There is likely to be more action on this topic during the 2023 session. 
Economic proposals that could provide opportunities for organizations such as DART to 
leverage more resources at a time when the cost of goods and services is increasing and 
as labor shortages continue is another area for monitoring and feedback.  

 
Recommendation: 

• Approve the 2023 State Legislative Priorities. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 87



ACTION ITEM 
 

9B: Executive Search Firm Contract 

Action: 
Award an Executive Search Firm contract to Krauthamer & 
Associates, based upon the DART Search Committee 
recommendation, for a maximum fee of $75,000 plus expenses 

Staff Resource: Sheri Kyras, Interim Chief Executive Officer 

 
Background: 

• At the November 16, 2022 DART Executive Committee meeting, staff were directed to develop 
a procurement for an Executive Search Firm to assist the Commission in identifying and hiring 
a new CEO for DART.   

• At the December 6, 2022, DART Commission meeting, a DART CEO Search Committee and 
Charter was established to lead the search for a new CEO.  This committee is comprised of 
five DART Commissioners:   

o Josh Mandelbaum (Chair) – City of Des Moines 
o Kelly Stearns (Vice-Chair) – City of Ankeny 
o Bridget Carberry Montgomery – City of Urbandale 
o Joseph Jones – City of Windsor Heights 
o Paula Dierenfeld – City of Johnston   

 
Procurement: 

• DART conducted a Request for Proposals (RFP) for an Executive Search Firm. A Request for 
Proposal was released on November 17, 2022, with six responses from firms received on 
December 6, 2022. 

o Harris Rand Lusk 
o KL2 Connects 
o Krauthamer & Associates 
o TransPro 
o Palmer Companies 
o Express Services 

• The sixth (6th) proposal from Express Services was rejected as non-responsive for not submitting 
a Technical Proposal. All others were responsive.  

• The CEO Search Committee members reviewed each remaining proposal and selected three 
finalists for virtual interviews which were conducted on December 22, 2022:  

o Krauthamer & Associates LLC 
o Harris ▪ Rand ▪ Lusk  
o KL2 Connects LLC 

 
These interviews provided more in-depth information in the following four areas: 

o Experience Record 
o Key Personnel and Organization 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 88



ACTION ITEM 
9B: Executive Search Firm Contract 
 

o Sourcing Methodology (recruitment, applicant selection and onboarding processes) 
o Cost Proposal 

• Based upon conversations regarding each firm finalist, the DART CEO Search Committee 
unanimously agreed that Krauthamer & Associates could provide the greatest benefit to the 
Commission in their search for a new CEO to lead the organization.  This firm’s compensation 
for services rendered is based upon a fee of 33 1/3% of the successful candidates first-year 
total cash compensation.  The Search Committee negotiated a fee, capping their 
compensation at a maximum of $75,000 plus expenses.  
 

Recommendation: 

• Award an Executive Search Firm contract to Krauthamer & Associates, based upon the DART 
Search Committee recommendation, for a maximum fee of $75,000 plus expenses. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 89



ACTION ITEM 
 

9C: DART Strategic Plan  

Action: Approve the 2023-2036 DART Strategic Plan  

Staff Resource: Luis Montoya, Chief Planning Officer 

Background: 

• For the past several years DART has developed and executed an annual Business Plan that 
identified priorities, major projects, and key performance indicators (KPI) for the organization.    

• In order to better document strategic direction as well as plan and coordinate resources, DART 
staff identified the need to move beyond an annual process and develop a three-year 
Strategic Plan.  

• In the spring of 2022 DART began working with Baton Global, a local strategy and 
organizational development consulting firm, to facilitate discussions with DART staff and 
develop a strategic plan for the organization.   

• The strategic plan largely builds on established priorities and objectives. DART’s Mission and 
Vision have been reinforced by the addition of Core Values, as well as updated Focus Areas 
and Objectives.  

• A Work Plan is included within the Strategic Plan that highlights organizational priorities, the 
initiatives that will be undertaken, and how DART will measure success. 

• The Strategic Plan does not commit DART to any specific actions or policies, but rather is 
intended to be a guiding document for:  

o Members of the public to understand where DART is headed  

o DART staff to understand DART’s priorities and key objectives  

o The DART Commission to see their priorities reflected and tangible results identified  

• The Strategic Plan is intended to be resource constrained, and it attempts to factor in the 
opportunities and challenges that the next three years may present.  

• Each of the components of the Strategic Plan were reviewed with the DART Commission at 
various Commission meetings in the summer and fall of 2022, as well as at a workshop in 
October.    

 

Recommendation: 

• Approve the 2023-2026 DART Strategic Plan. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 90



ACTION ITEM 
 

9D: February 2023 Service Change 

Action: Approve service changes to select fixed routes effective February 
19, 2023 

Staff Resource: Tony Filippini, AICP, Planning and Development Manager 

 

Background: 

• DART regularly evaluates its services and implements any necessary route and/or schedule 
changes to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the fixed-route bus service.  

• Typically, the regularly scheduled winter service change includes only minor adjustments in 
effort to minimize behavior change for customers that might lead to mobility impacts during 
inclement weather.  
 

Proposed Change: 

• The February service change will adjust the schedules for the following route: 

o Route 15 – 6th Ave. end of day trip added back to garage on weekdays and two on 
Saturdays 

Impacts 

• Title VI: Since no route will be changed by 25% or more this is considered a minor service 
change and a detailed analysis of the potential impact that the proposed changes would 
have on minority and low-income individuals is not required.  

• Paratransit: Paratransit service areas and span will not be impacted by changes proposed in 
the February service package. 

• Property Tax Formula: The proposed changes do not change any tier service levels for any 
community. 
 

Recommendation: 

• Approve the above listed service change to the select fixed route effective February 19, 2022.  

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 91



DISCUSSION ITEM 
 

10A: FY 2024 DART Budget Development Update 

Staff Resource: Amber Dakan, Finance Director 

 
• Staff will provide an update regarding DART’s upcoming FY 2024 Budget Development.   

 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 92



DISCUSSION ITEM 
 

10B: Paratransit Public Input Update 

Staff Resource: Brandon Smiley, Chief Operations Officer 

 
• Staff will provide an update regarding the Paratransit public input results regarding changes 

to the Bus Plus eligibility guidelines/process.   
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 93



MONTHLY REPORT 
 

10C: Monthly Performance Report – November 2022 

Staff Resource: Nate Bleadorn, Business Intelligence Manager 

 
Summary of November 2022 Monthly Performance: 

• Total November ridership was up 21% compared to November of 2021, driven largely by 
increases in Fixed Route (22%) and Paratransit (39%) compared to the same time last year. 
Ridership decreased month over month ridership, as it typically is at this time of year, due to 
colder weather and holidays.  

• For the month of November, both preventable and non-preventable accidents were down 
compared to last month. Preventable accidents occurred at a rate of 0.76 per 100,000 miles. 
Our monthly and YTD rate is still below our target of 1 per 100,000 miles. Non-preventable 
accidents occurred at a rate of 1.02 per 100,000 miles in November.  

• On-Time Performance saw another month-to-month increase to 84.15% for the month, which 
is nearing our benchmark of 85%. 

• Road calls per 100,000 miles, where our buses need service while in operation, were 8.52 for 
the month of November. 

 

 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 94



Monthly

247,172
FY22: 204,094 (+21.11%)

YTD

1,469,618
FY22: 1,164,258 (+26.23%)

Ridership

Monthly

0.76
FY22: 0.99 (+23.06%)

YTD

0.81
FY22: 0.93 (+12.62%)

Preventable Accidents/100k Miles

Monthly

1.02
FY22: 0.74 (-36.78%)

YTD

1.29
FY22: 0.70 (-85.03%)

Non-Preventable Accidents/100k

Monthly

84.15%
FY22: 85.83% (-1.95%)

YTD

82.88%
FY22: 84.68% (-2.12%)

On-Time Performance

Monthly

12.38%
FY22: 12.14% (+1.93%)

YTD

16.21%
FY22: 16.35% (-0.87%)

Farebox Recovery Ratio

Monthly

14.00
FY22: 11.19 (+25.18%)

YTD

15.56
FY22: 11.88 (+30.98%)

FR Passengers / Revenue Hour

0

10

20

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year
10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Year

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

80%

85%

90%

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

0

2

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

0

1

2

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

200K

400K

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Target

Current Year Prior Year

Performance Summary - November 2022 12/1/2021 11/30/2022

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 95



Fixed Route Performance

0K

100K

200K

300K

400K

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

Ridership

YTD

1,391,956
FY22: 1,091,324

(+27.55%)

Monthly

232,495
FY22: 190,594 (+21.98%)

80%

85%

90%

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

On-Time Performance

YTD

82.41%
FY22: 84.33% (-2.29%)

Monthly

83.78%
FY22: 85.56% (-2.08%)

$0

$100

$200

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

Operating Cost/Rev. Hour

YTD

$145.09
FY22: $129.01 (-12.46%)

Monthly

$147.82
FY22: $135.58 (-9.03%)

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

Preventable Acc./100k

YTD

0.80
FY22: 1.26 (+36.4%)

Monthly

0.77
FY22: 1.12 (+30.8%)

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

Non-Preventable Acc./100k

YTD

1.60
FY22: 1.05 (-52.65%)

Monthly

0.77
FY22: 1.12 (+30.8%)

0

10

20

30

40

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

Complaints/100k Passengers

YTD

21.05
FY22: 23.27 (+9.56%)

Monthly

27.53
FY22: 19.41 (-41.8%)

0

5

10

15

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

Road Calls/100k Miles

YTD

9.65
FY22: 6.41 (-50.46%)

Monthly

8.52
FY22: 8.21 (-3.81%)

Monthly Ridership by Fare
Group

Fares and
Passes

Free
Shuttle

DMPS
Students

Unlimited
Access

10
5.2

K

47
.06

K

46
.63

K

31
.98

K

10
7.4

7K

6.4
6K

42
.65

K

33
.99

K

Current Year Prior Year

12/1/2021 11/30/2022

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 96



Paratransit Performance
Paratransit Customer Type

Breakdown

0%

50%

100%

Jan 2022 Apr 2022

7%

15% 14%

10%

Bus Plus Medicaid Other Polk County

0K

2K

4K

6K

8K

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

Ridership

YTD

43,548
FY22: 33,040 (+31.8%)

Monthly

8,857
FY22: 6,374 (+38.96%)

85%

90%

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

On-Time Performance

YTD

91.07%
FY22: 91.88% (-0.88%)

Monthly

90.49%
FY22: 91.69% (-1.31%)

$0

$20

$40

$60

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

Operating Cost/Passenger

YTD

$46.42
FY22: $50.92 (+8.83%)

Monthly

$47.06
FY22: $58.40 (+19.41%)

0

2

4

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

Preventable Acc./100k

YTD

1.23
FY22: 0.00

Monthly

1.25
FY22: 0.00

0

2

4

6

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

Non-Preventable Acc./100k

YTD

0.98
FY22: 0.00

Monthly

1.25
FY22: 0.00

RideShare - Ridership

YTD

34,114
FY22: 39,894 (-14.49%)

Monthly

5,820
FY22: 7,126 (-18.33%)

RideShare - Op. Cost/Passenger*

YTD

$10.51
FY22: $10.89 (+3.5%)

Monthly

$12.92
FY22: $12.72 (-1.59%)

RideShare - Ridership

YTD

34,114
FY22: 39,894 (-14.49%)

Monthly

5,820
FY22: 7,126 (-18.33%)

RideShare - Op. Cost/Passenger*

YTD

$10.51
FY22: $10.89 (+3.5%)

Monthly

$12.92
FY22: $12.72 (-1.59%)

0K

2K

4K

6K

8K

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

$0.00

$5.00

$10.00

$15.00

Date

Jan 2022 Jul 2022

Current Year Prior Year

12/1/2021 11/30/2022

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 97



Program Route

 

Month
Ridership

Month Last
Year

YTD Ridership Last Year YTD
Ridership

YTD Change YTD Change
%

YTD Passengers/
Revenue Hour

YTD On-Time
Performance

1. Local #1 - Fairgrounds
#3 - University
#4 - E. 14th
#5 - Franklin Ave/Johnston
#6 - Indianola
#7 - SW 9th St.
#8 - Fleur Dr.
#10 - East University
#11 - Ingersoll/Valley Junction
#13 - Evergreen
#14 - Beaver Ave.
#15 - 6th Ave.
#16 - Douglas Ave.
#17 - Hubbell Ave.
#50 - Euclid
#52 - Valley West/Jordan Creek
#60 - Ingersoll/University
#72 - West Des Moines Loop
#74 - NW Urbandale

2. Shuttle Link Shuttle
Downtown Shuttle

3. Express #92 - Hickman
#93 - NW 86th
#94 - Westown
#95 - Vista
#96 - E.P. True
#98 - Ankeny
#99 - Altoona

5. On Call Ankeny
NW Johnston / Grimes
Regional

6. DART On Demand DART On Demand - Ankeny
Cab Paratransit: Taxi
Paratransit Paratransit: Bus/Van
RideShare RideShare
Total

10,481
21,896
9,720
9,128

21,469
25,312
2,328

966
2,926
4,860

13,818
16,555
26,443
17,537
4,764
8,455

20,117
4,097

418
1,050

9,560
18,788
8,408
6,756

16,158
20,730
2,442

957
1,217
3,582

10,889
13,141
19,943
13,711
3,982
7,549

19,074
2,588

304
556

274,321
120,968
49,692
39,717

104,197
124,906
10,930
4,763

12,642
19,296
66,309
81,345

128,494
91,039
25,159
47,139

108,804
22,018
2,428
3,905

189,998
99,766
45,343
31,566
76,337

106,512
9,966
4,430
5,746

12,942
53,437
63,690
99,752
71,388
18,571
37,710
95,194
14,729
1,563
3,000

84,323
21,202
4,349
8,151

27,860
18,394

964
333

6,896
6,354

12,872
17,655
28,742
19,651
6,588
9,429

13,610
7,289

865
905

44.4%
21.3%
9.6%

25.8%
36.5%
17.3%
9.7%
7.5%

120.0%
49.1%
24.1%
27.7%
28.8%
27.5%
35.5%
25.0%
14.3%
49.5%
55.3%
30.2%

33.34
15.95
11.59
10.03
19.92
25.55
14.05
6.82

14.78
35.14
15.10
19.23
17.09
13.71
7.68
8.72

14.83
5.21
3.73
2.83

64.22%
84.08%
87.84%
75.96%
86.34%
88.20%
82.68%
84.69%
79.70%
86.30%
85.46%
82.79%
80.89%
84.68%
89.81%
88.19%
80.89%
77.89%
85.41%
84.53%

5,760
391
569
346
247
664

1,957
221

1,254
681

6,922
5,820

247,172

5,606
469
503
485
157
613

1,948
383
95

207
580

5,350
7,126

203,857

33,449
2,103
3,234
2,238
1,279
3,555
9,832
1,324

28
5,835
2,315

35,309
34,114

1,472,687

27,951
2,206
2,797
2,108

757
2,658
8,361
1,906

582

46
207

2,746
29,551
39,894

1,163,410

5,498
-103
437
130
522
897

1,471
-582
-582

-18
5,628
-431

5,758
-5,780

309,277

19.7%
-4.7%
15.6%
6.2%

69.0%
33.7%
17.6%

-30.5%
-100.0%

-39.1%
2718.8%

-15.7%
19.5%

-14.5%
26.6%

11.64
3.97
3.37
6.40
5.46
7.23
6.58
3.20

2.91
3.15
4.34
1.85
4.89

12.50

85.03%
75.43%
82.29%
84.21%
71.11%
78.74%
80.48%
76.81%

93.93%

91.07%

82.88%

Route Details Month

November 2022 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 98



MONTHLY REPORT 
 

11A: Operations Team Report 

Staff Resources: Brandon Smiley, Chief Operations Officer  

 

Maintenance – Keith Welch, Fleet Manager  

• Proterra Update: As shared in prior Commission meetings, the Proterra electric buses have had 
more mechanical issues than expected. Staff are actively working with Proterra to resolve these 
mechanical issues and extend specific warranties.  At this point, DART is keeping the buses 
parked until a satisfactory resolution is determined. There will be no disruption in service due to 
this change.  

• Supply Chain Impacts: DART’s fleet maintenance department continues to be impacted by 
parts shortages due to supply chain challenges. There has been some improvement recently 
with around 98% of orders being received within 60 days, but 2% being more than 100 days out. 
The main component we are having issues with getting are DEF heads, Turbo actuators and 
primary air filters. We are having issues with many Champion M/D parts as the supply company 
has been bought out and is struggling filling parts orders. 
 

Transportation – Joy Crutcher, Fixed Route Manager; Skip Herbold, Mobility Services Manager 

• Paratransit Public Input Plan Update: Currently, staff is reviewing the Bus Plus survey statistics that 
were collected in November 2022. The target is to have results of the collected data and 
recommendations surrounding program changes ready to present to the commission during the 
February 2023 Commissions Meeting.  

• Hiring Update: The operations team has several open positions within Mobility Services. Hiring to fill 
these open positions and the training of those recently hired—most of which are frontline 
employees—is a top priority. 
 

Facilities – Zach Ashmore, Facilities Manager 

• Shelters: The Facilities team is currently working on pulling down the West shelter at the Windsor 
Heights Sam’s Club due to damage sustained by the strong winds from the snowstorm. 

• Snowstorm:  The Facilities Team worked through the snowstorm clearing the properties, clean 
up was completed by 4:30AM on Thursday morning.  We continued to fight blowing snow and 
cold temperatures through Saturday.  

• Underground Storage Tanks: Work was completed on re-topping the underground fuel storage 
tanks at DART Way before the storm moved in. This work was completed due to water infiltration 
into our fuel storage at DART Way.  

 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 99



MONTHLY REPORT 
11A: Operations Team Report 
 
 
Customer Experience – Steve Wright, Customer Experience Manager 

• Volume: Piggybacking off our staffing note from last month, volumes are almost at pre-Covid 
levels. 2019 we were offered 10,059 calls, 2020 was 5,523 calls, 2,021 showed 7,634 calls, and this 
year we had 9,050. We are attempting a different model to focus on service levels while balancing 
our window staffing. Historically window staff have been on the phones and working window 
simultaneously, and we are testing a window person dedicated strictly to it while the rest of the 
team focuses on the heavier call volume. Results will be provided in the next report. 

 
Service Level: The percentage of calls answered within 60 seconds. 

 

 

 

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

N
ov

-2
0

Ja
n-

21
M

ar
-2

1
M

ay
-2

1
Ju

l-2
1

Se
p-

21
N

ov
-2

1
Ja

n-
22

M
ar

-2
2

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
l-2

2
Se

p-
22

N
ov

-2
2

AllUp Service Level% 
(Goal 87%)

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

O
ct

-2
0

De
c-

20

Fe
b-

21

Ap
r-

21

Ju
n-

21

Au
g-

21

O
ct

-2
1

De
c-

21

Fe
b-

22

Ap
r-

22

Ju
n-

22

Au
g-

22

O
ct

-2
2

Call Volume

0 5 10 15 20

Complaint - Passenger…
Complaint - Driver…

Complaint - Bus No Show

Top Complaints
(per 100,000 passengers)

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 100



MONTHLY REPORT 
 

11B: Planning Team Report 

Staff Resources: Luis Montoya, Chief Planning Officer  

 
• Quit-Claim Deed: DART staff are working with the Des Moines Community Playhouse and their 

representatives to sell a small parcel of property that DART owns that the playhouse currently 
sits on. The parcel is a former alleyway, owned by DART’s predecessor the MTA, which the 
Playhouse has an easement for. DART will sell the parcel for $1 in exchange for the right to 
indefinitely occupy part of the parking lot as a Park and Ride for DART’s customers.  

• Principal Foundation Pilot - River Bend DOD: DART was awarded an additional $20,000 grant 
from the Community Foundation, and applications to the Mid Iowa Health Foundation, 
Broadlawns, and Iowa Department of Transportation are awaiting a determination. Staff are 
also conducting outreach with neighborhood groups and residents to better understand the 
existing transportation gaps so that a service plan can be developed based on needs and 
available funding.   

• DART on Demand West Des Moines: Staff have refined the TOS proposal for a new DART on 
Demand zone in West Des Moines. Public outreach and analysis have led staff to recommend 
that rather than eliminating Route 72 entirely, we make efficiency improvements and still use 
the savings to launch an additional, smaller DART On Demand Zone. The updated proposal 
will be shared with the public in January and DART staff are preparing for implementation in 
June.    

• DART on Demand Ankeny: The table below shows key performance metrics for December. 
Ridership continues to be strong, however colder weather and non-school days are leading 
to a slight decrease relative to the fall. The request denial rate and wait times are still high. We 
will continue to adjust how we assign operators at busier times of the day to try and increase 
reliability and serve currently unmet demand.   

 

 
 
• Strategic Planning: Baton Global worked with DART staff to develop a Strategic Plan to 

document DART’s priorities for the next 3 years. The Commission has reviewed all elements of 
the plan at various Commission meetings and a November workshop, and a completed plan 
will be shared with the Commission for consideration of adopting in January.  

Week Trips

Total 
Unique 
Riders 
(who 

booked)

First Time 
Users 
(who 

booked)

No Proposed 
Trip 

Available 
(percent of 
requests)

Average 
Wait Time 
(Minutes)

Average 
Ride 

Duration 
(Minutes)

Mobile 
Booking 

Rate 

New 
Accounts 
Created

Nov 28 - Dec 2 307 87 8 19% 31 10 79% 25
Dec 5 - Dec 9 269 74 3 31% 37 10 82% 21

Dec 12 - Dec 16 253 78 7 37% 43 12 70% 21
Dec 19 - Dec 23 278 76 3 14% 23 12 84% 12

Cumulative 10,985 348 1226

Ridership Customer Experience Service Adoption

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 101



MONTHLY REPORT 
 

11C: External Affairs Team Report 

Staff Resources: Erin Hockman, Chief External Affairs Officer  

 

• Customer Satisfaction Survey: ETC Institute has completed survey collection for RideShare 
and DART On Demand customer satisfaction surveys. Survey collection for Fixed Route and 
Paratransit was completed in October and November. DART will receive preliminary results in 
early 2023 and a representative from the ETC Institute will provide an overview of all survey 
results to the DART Commission at their meeting in February.  

• DART Alternative Funding Advisory Committee: After review by committee members, the 
Iowa DOT, in cooperation with the Iowa Department of Revenue, submitted a final report to 
the Iowa General Assembly on December 15, 2022, summarizing the work and conclusion of 
the advisory committee after its two meetings on October 7 and November 18.  The 
appendices included with the final report included all of the presentations and studies 
shared with the committee. The full report is available at 
https://iowadot.gov/dartaltfunding/Final-Report.  

• Grant Applications for Low-Income On-Demand Pilot Project: Staff is continuing to seek 
funding to support a pilot of DART On Demand in the 50314-area code. Principal Foundation 
provided an initial $100,000 to kick-start the pilot. DART recently learned it was successful in 
securing a $20,000 grant from the Community Foundation of Greater Des Moines and a 
$50,000 grant with Mid-Iowa Health Foundation, bringing the total amount of grant funding 
awarded to $170,000. DART has additional grant requests pending with Broadlawns and the 
Iowa DOT and plans to submit grant applications with Prairie Meadows and Polk County in 
early 2023.  
 

Marketing and Communications – Carissa Meredith, Marketing and Communications Manager 

• Route 5 weekend promotion: A marketing and promotional campaign to promote new 
weekend service on Local Route 5 is underway. The campaign targets retail, high density 
housing and employers along the route. Paid advertising includes digital ads, shelter ads and 
movie theater ads at Flix Brewhouse. A ribbon cutting was held on Dec. 3 and was well 
attending by chamber members, staff and media.  

• TRAC recruitment: The marketing team is deploying additional tactics to recruit new TRAC 
applications. Tactics included in app alerts and targeted emails.  

• Holiday Service Communications: Communications alerting riders that DART did not have 
service on Christmas Day (Dec. 25, 2022) or New Year’s Day (Jan. 1, 2023) were deployed. 
This information was shared through a variety of channels, including on social media, via 
rider emails, on the DART website, through audio played onboard DART’s buses and through 
signage posted around DART Central Station. 

• Public Input: DART has started to share the proposed service changes in West Des Moines 
and north Des Moines, scheduled to take effect in June 2023. As part of these efforts, DART is 
hosting two in-person events and one virtual event in January, as well as soliciting input 
through a survey, both in print (at DART Customer Service) and online. DART is working with 
city partners in Clive, Des Moines and West Des Moines specifically to communicate the 
proposed service changes and opportunity for input and is also sharing the information with 
business partners, stakeholders and local human service agencies. More on these efforts is 
available online at ridedart.com/June. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 102

https://iowadot.gov/dartaltfunding/Final-Report


MONTHLY REPORT 
11C: External Affairs Team Report  
 
• February service change: At the end of the month DART will begin to share details on a 

minor change to the schedule for Local Route 15 – 6th Avenue, which travels between DART 
Central Station and Park Fair Mall in north Des Moines, primarily traveling along 6th Avenue. 

 
DART in the NEWS 
DART names interim CEO, schedules open house for Presutti 
Business Record, 12/09/22 
 

Iowa’s largest public transportation agency facing significant cuts 
Axios, 12/13/22 
 

Electric DART buses undergoing maintenance 
KCCI, 12/8/2022 
 
Marketing Analytics Report 

Metric June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Nov Year 
Prior   2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2021 

MyDART App Accounts 39,470 40,371 43,870 44,909 45,755 46,480 33,524 39% 
Website Unique Visitors 22,199 18,962 35,503 21,768 23,307 20,595 19,238 7% 
Facebook Likes 6,074 6,084 6,109 6,114 6,124 6,139 5,205 18% 
Twitter Followers 2,519 2,524 2,542 2,580 2,556 2,547 2,470 3% 
Instagram Followers 1,552 1,554 1,568 1,579 1,589 1,597 1,474 8% 
LinkedIn Followers 743 754 775 786 845 874 645 36% 
Email Subscribers 13,550 13,557 13,566 13,561 13,568 14,368 13,335 8% 
Trip Plans 44,412 39,476 54,465 51,143 34,963 41,737 25,089 66% 
Real-time Map 34,609 27,711 41,711 39,813 26,508 27,918 20,802 34% 
Next DART Bus 341,649 285,471 327,387 353,738 282,038 355,217 173,743 104% 
SMS Text Messaging 128,733 115,626 131,070 133,679 131,912 123,713 122,839 1% 

 
MyDART App Report 
Metric June July Aug Sept Oct Nov TOTAL 
  2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 FY 2023 
Downloads 1,057 846 3,178 1,386 1,255 1,058 6,877 

iOS 223 224 1,381 499 387 290 2,557 
Android  834 622 1,797 887 868 768 4,320 

Accounts 
Created 944 901 3,499 1,039 846 725 6,109 

Orders Placed 5,132 5,058 9,080 5,778 5,623 4,466 24,947 
Passes Purchased 8,409 7,054 16,447 8,129 7,828 6,302 38,706 
Revenue $22,266 $27,050  $39,677  $32,725  $32,922  $27,684  $133,008 

 

Business & Community Partnerships – Matt Harris, Business & Community Partnerships Manager 

• Unlimited Access program – Month-over-month ridership by Unlimited Access partners was 
down in November but remains above the same period in 2021. The top 5 Unlimited Access 
partnerships by ridership remain DMACC, Newbury Living, Drake University, the Hy-Vee 
Commissary and Principal Financial Group. Recently renewed Unlimited Access partnerships 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 103

https://businessrecord.com/Content/Transportation/Transportation/Article/DART-names-interim-CEO-schedules-open-house-for-Presutti/175/837/99091
https://www.axios.com/local/des-moines/2022/12/13/dart-iowa-public-transportation-agency-cuts
https://www.kcci.com/article/electric-dart-buses-des-moines-iowa/42194278


MONTHLY REPORT 
11C: External Affairs Team Report  
 

include Grand View University and Des Moines University. Renewals are pending with The 
Wittern Group and the Hy-Vee Commissary.  

• Art shelters – Shelter installations anticipated for 2023 include the City of Ankeny (1), City of 
Johnston (1), the City of Urbandale (2), the City of Windsor Heights (3), the second phase of 
the 6th Avenue Corridor (4), and the Avenues of Ingersoll and Grand (6) in Des Moines. Art 
processes are completed in Altoona and underway in West Des Moines and Historic East 
Village in Des Moines.  

• Ride to Thrive program - Implementation of the new Ride to Thrive Program continues with 
306 participants enrolled since July 1, of which more than 60% have enrolled using Food 
Assistance as proof of eligibility.  

• Mobility Coordination - Mobility outreach training through November 2022 participation is 
shown in the chart. 

 
RideShare – Victoria Henderson Weber, RideShare Supervisor  

• New technology systems implementation: DART and HBSS have finalized the base 
system/administrative portal used to manage the day-to-day operations of the program. This 
will allow for DART to begin calendar year 2023 in the new system as planned. Customer and 
business partner facing access to the system is being finalized. Current customers will begin 
their transition to the new system in January. 

• Vanpool rental with Bureau of Refugee Services paused: DART established a van rental 
agreement with the Iowa Bureau of Refugee Services in July 2022. The Bureau was using 
RideShare vans to help refugees access services and employment opportunities, which 
generated significant ridership for RideShare. Unfortunately, the Bureau paused its van rental 
agreement in November as it works to secure additional insurance coverage necessary to 
continue using RideShare vans. DART is hopeful the partnership will resume in early 2023.  

 

General Public
3%

Education &  Schools
33%

Human Services
23%

Re-entry
23%

Refugee
15%

Senior
3%

FY2022 YTD Mobility Outreach Participants
622 Total Participants

General Public Education &  Schools Human Services Re-entry Refugee Senior

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 104



MONTHLY REPORT 
 

11D: Finance, IT & Procurement Team Report 

Staff Resources: Amber Dakan, Mike Gulick, Kyle Foster 

 
Finance Department – Amber Dakan, Finance Manager 

• FY 2024 Budget Preparation – Finance staff is continuing their work around the FY24 budget. 
Special emphasis is being placed on service levels and corresponding wages in order to 
forecast the most accurate dollars possible. 

• NTD Reporting Finalization – Required reporting to the National Transit Database is nearly 
complete on FY2022 data. Staff and our NTD Analyst are awaiting final approval by DART 
auditors before closing out the submission. 

• Year End Planning and Reporting – The Finance team, along with the Information Technology 
team, implemented the year-end software package update for our ERP system, Dynamics 
GP. This provides updates to the tax tables as well as the corresponding 1099 forms.  

 
Procurement Department – Mike Gulick, Procurement Manager 

Upcoming Projects and Procurements: 

• Executive Search Services - DART is seeking an executive search consultant to assist the 
Board of Commissioners in recruiting and selecting the next Chief Executive Officer. The 
immediate need is to fill the CEO position and it is possible we will also seek to fill other 
executive level positions in the future. 

o RFP closed December 6, 2022. 

o Finalist Interviews were held on December 22, 2022 

o Finalist will be presented to DART Commission on January 3, 2023. 

• Human Resource Information System (HRIS)- DART is seeking a fully HRIS integrated cloud 
solution, including software and subscription, implementation, data conversion, integrations, 
training, hardware, other additional services, and managed services. 

o RFP is open and closes February 7, 2023. 

• Construction Manager as an Agent (CMa)- DART is seeking a CMa for a new Operations and 
Maintenance Facility pending project to begin work on pre-construction phases. 

o RFP is open and closes January 10, 2023. 

• Drive Lane Concrete (1100 DART Way) – DART is seeking a contractor to provide 
replacement of concrete in the drive lane at 1100 DART Way. The project will focus on 
demolition and replacement of concrete that is over the diesel fuel tanks. The existing 
concrete does not have enough slope and causes water to get into the fuel tanks. 

o Contract awarded to DBE and the construction work is complete as December 28, 
2022. 

• Glass Replacement Services – DART is seeking a contractor to provide glass replacement 
services for the bus shelters and DCS from vandalism and damage. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 105



MONTHLY REPORT 
11D: Finance/IT/Procurement  
 

o Researching collaboration with cities and other political subdivisions. 

• Walk Behind Scrubber – DART is seeking a second walk behind scrubber for maintenance to 
use on the garage floors. 

o Awarded and waiting for delivery. 

• FY2022 Triennial Review and Corrective Actions – The FTA requires a Triennial Review of 
DART’s compliance with Federal requirements. This is determined by examining a sample of 
award management and program implementation practices. During the FY2022 Triennial 
Review, there were three deficiencies found, all of which were in DART’s Procurement area.  

o P11-1 Missing FTA Clauses 

o P12-2 Lobbying certifications not included in procurement solicitations or signed by 
bidders 

o P19-2 Missing documentation of bus model testing 

On December 27, 2022, DART received confirmation that all three deficiencies have been 
adequately addressed and the FTA has closed DART’s FY2022 Triennial Review.   

• Update Procurement Policy and Procedures Manual – DART is looking to update the manual 
to reflect current procurement thresholds and processes for improved efficiencies.  

Contracts and Task Orders Approved Recently: 

• Securities Upgrades (1100 DART Way) – DART has placed a purchase order off a State 
Contract with Baker Group to update the security system at DW and allow for remote 
security work. Cameras are in and we are waiting on mounts and brackets to be delivered. 

• Facilities Truck – DART has placed a purchase order off a State Contract with Karl Chevrolet 
and GM has accepted for 2023 Chevrolet 3500HD 4x4 Standard Cab Work Truck. Estimated 
time for delivery is December 2022 with potential for delay into 2023. 

• Frontrunners – Dart has placed a purchase order off a State Contract for seven (7) 
Frontrunners from Hoglund Bus Co/New England Wheels. Estimated time for delivery is Early 
2023. 

• Medium Duty Buses – DART has placed a purchase order off a State Contract for four (4) 29’ 
Gillig Buses. Estimated time for delivery is 2nd or 3rd quarter 2023. 

Future Procurements: 

• FY2024 Bus Passes • Bond/Financing Counsel Services 

• HR Employee Service Awards Program 

• Insurance Alternatives for DART 

• Fleet Order FY2024 

• Outdoor Signage Displays 

• Art Wall Refresh 

 

• B-Cycle Station 

IT Department – Kyle Foster, IT Director 

• Technology Plan (Health Assessment) Development – Underutilization of existing 
software/solutions was one of the voids established in the assessment.    Based upon this 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 106



MONTHLY REPORT 
10D: Finance/IT/Procurement 
 

feedback from R&B, solution vendors have started to be engaged for follow up training and 
to assist in updating standard operating procedures.   

o Trapeze has provided a response to all pain points/issues around their software. This is 
being reviewed and will be utilized for improvements over the next few months. 

o Vendor training has also been scheduled from Hacon and Bytemark to increase 
efficiencies with the mobile TripPlanner. 

o System upgrades are currently being scheduled with training plans to follow, 
specifically focusing on pain points established in the assessment. 

o A list of internal Subject Matter Experts is being defined to obtain further vendor 
training. These people will update all standard operating procedures and onboard 
training for the correlating departments. 

• Infrastructure Refresh project – DART has hardware that’s starting to reach its replacement 
timeline.  Vendor engagements have begun to determine replacement make, models, and 
pricing.  Once a vendor has been chosen, DART will build a phased approach to refresh the 
aging hardware. Consideration has been given to existing and future locations to ensure 
everything is modular and scalable enough to be relocated and expanded upon. 

o RSM was engaged to do a server and network hardware audit.  They have provided 
a list of recommended hardware items that they would recommend getting on the 
replacement schedule as well as their costs.  

o Cisco in conjunction with CDWG has also been engaged to do an audit and provide 
recommendations on replacement equipment and pricing. 

o Pure Storage has been identified as the storage vendor. A purchase is currently under 
way, with the estimated install timeframe of late February 2023. 

o A quote has been received for replacing our compute systems.  Grant funding is 
being identified before a consent item is brought before the Board of Commission. 

• Disaster Recovery/Incident Response – DART IT staff are currently undergoing a full 
update/re-write of our DR and Incident response plan. Cyber Security threats, loss of power, 
facility, systems, and connectivity are all being taken into consideration to meet all critical 
system recovery time objectives.   

o A core system/service list has been created with associated recover point and 
recovery time objectives 

o The backup plan is being updated to meet the defined RTO/RPO time frames. 

• Map updates – DART is currently working with Trapeze to update the maps our systems utilize.  
The maps are currently 10 years old and in need of a refresh.  Testing of the new maps has 
been completed and a production upgrade is scheduled for January 8th. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 107



MONTHLY REPORT 

11E: Human Resources, Training & Safety Team Report 

Staff Resource: Beth Hanson, Chief Administrative Officer 

Human Resources 

• Recruitment Update - Current Openings:

o Paratransit Operator

o Service Person - DCS

o Data Analyst Intern

o Accounting Manager

o Finance & Accounting
Intern

o Executive Operations
Coordinator

o Transit Planner

• Recent Hires:

o Transportation Director starting Jan. 3, 2023

o 2 Paratransit Team Members

o 1 Fixed Team Member

• COVID-19 Update:
o Employees have been notified that DART COVID pay is ending December 31, 2022. This is

aligned with other transit businesses updates.

Training – Matt Johnson, Training Manager 

• Fixed Route Trainee: Training continues for three Fixed Route Operators in training.

• Fixed Route Graduates: Four Fixed Route Operators completed training to graduate to part-
time operators.

• Paratransit Trainee: Training continues for six Paratransit Operators in training.

• Transit training and workforce development conference: HR and Training staff attended a
workforce recruitment and development conference to learn and discuss ideas around transit
workforce recruitment, training, and development.

Safety – Pat Daly, Safety Manager 

• Delivered new employee safety plan, hazard and near miss reporting orientation.

• Conducted noise level assessment of the maintenance shop

• Continued work on emergency action plans.

• Coordinated DART free rides to warming shelters for Polk County Emergency Management
Agency

• Responded with a bus to an apartment fire at the request of Polk County Emergency
Management Agency

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 108



MONTHLY REPORT 
 

11F: Chief Executive Officer 

Staff Resource: Elizabeth Presutti, Chief Executive Officer 

 

• DART Executive Committee - The DART Executive Committee met on Wednesday, December 
21. The discussion items presented during the meeting included: 

o Transit Riders Advisory Committee (TRAC) Recommendations 

o Financial Plan-Scenarios 

o Nominating Committee Update 

• DART Executive Search Committee Firm Interviews – on December 22, the DART search 
committee (comprised of five DART Commissioners:  Josh Mandelbaum (Chair), Kelly Stearns 
(Vice-Chair), Bridget Carberry Montgomery, Joseph Jones, Paula Dierenfeld and key staff 
interviewed the top three (3) search firms for consideration for the new CEO search.    

• Greater Des Moines Committee Panel Event – on December 20, I was invited to join a panel of 
transportation leaders; (Kevin Foley, Executive Director, Des Moines International Airport; Ben 
McLean, CEO, Ruan Transportation Management Systems and Rich Willis, president, Willis 
Automotive) to discuss the importance of transportation in Iowa, exploring what has 
happened over the last few years in various sectors, including trends, challenges and 
opportunities ranging from supply chain to policy to energy issues. 

• Interim Chief Executive Officer – On December 19, Sheri Kyras joined the DART team to serve 
as the Interim Chief Executive Officer. As I have shared previously, Sheri was an employee of 
DART/MTA for 21 years before she left in 2006 to become the Transit Director for CyRide. During 
most of her tenure with DART/MTA, Sheri served as Assistant General Manager, overseeing the 
Planning, Customer Service and Operations teams. Sheri retired from CyRide in 2019 after 12 
years with the organization. At CyRide, Sheri led changes to the fleet, facility expansion and 
renovation projects as well as a complete system redesign that was implemented in 2018. We 
are excited to have Sheri join DART and assist with the CEO transition. 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 109



FUTURE DART COMMISSION ITEMS 
 

   

Future Agenda Items: 

February 7, 2023 – 12:00 P.M. 

Action Items Information Items 
• FY 2024 Budget Public Hearing Date 
• ADA Paratransit Changes 
• Executive Search Approvals (JD/candidate 

profile/interview process/timeline) 
• Construction Manager Agent (CMa) Approval 

• Transit Riders Advisory Committee Update 
• Customer Satisfaction Survey Results 
• Quarterly Investment Report 
• Quarterly Financial Update 
• Quarterly Safety Report  

March 7, 2023 – 12:00 P.M. 

Action Items Information Items 
• FY 2024 Budget 
• DART General Fund Reserve Policy 

• Transit Riders Advisory Committee Update 
• Rideshare Update 

April 4, 2023 – 12:00 P.M. 

Action Items Information Items 
• Executive Search – Approve CEO Candidate 

Finalists 
• Updated Procurement Policy and Procedures 
• June Service Change 

• Transit Riders Advisory Committee Update 
 

 
 

Upcoming DART Meetings: 

MEETING DATE TIME LOCATION 

January DART Executive Committee TBD TBD TBD 

DART FY 2024 Budget Workshop Tuesday, January 24, 2023 12:00 p.m. Hybrid 
 

DART Commission Packet - January 3, 2023 110


	ADP481B.tmp
	Vice Chair, Josh Mandelbaum called the meeting to order at 12:00 p.m. Roll call was taken, and a quorum was present.

	7D1 - CONSENT- FY 2023 - Agency Safety Plan - 2023 01 Update final.pdf
	Signature of Accountable Executive
	DART Commission Approval
	Abbreviations
	Definitions
	1. Organizational Overview
	2. Agency Safety Plan Goals and Objectives
	3. Annual Review and Update
	4.  Safety Performance Targets
	4.1. FY 2023 Safety Performance Targets
	4.2. FY 2022 Safety Performance Targets Results

	5. Safety Performance Target Coordination
	6. Risk Reduction Targets
	7. Safety Management Policy
	7.1. Safety Management Policy Statement
	7.2.  Safety Management Policy Communication
	7.3. Authorities, Accountabilities and Responsibilities
	7.3.1. Overview of DART Organizational Structure
	7.3.2. Accountable Executive, Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
	7.3.3. Chief Human Resources Officer (CHRO)
	7.3.4. Chief Operations Officer (COO)
	7.3.5. Safety Manager
	7.3.6. Safety and Training Specialist
	7.3.7. DART Management
	7.3.8. DART Operations and Maintenance Supervisors
	7.3.9. All DART Employees
	7.3.10. Responsibilities Summary

	7.4. Employee Safety Reporting Program
	7.5. Emergency Management and Local Coordination
	7.5.1. Emergency Management
	7.5.2. Coordination with External Agencies
	7.5.3. Emergency Preparedness Planning
	7.5.4. Emergency Drills
	7.5.5. Implementation of Findings
	7.5.6. Emergency Familiarization
	7.5.7. Emergency Preparedness Training
	7.5.8. Emergency Preparedness Exercises
	7.5.9. Emergency Response Training


	8. Safety Risk Management
	8.1. Safety Risk Management Process
	8.1.1. Safety Department Activities
	8.1.2. General Safety Related Activities
	8.1.3. Safety Committee Activities
	The Bipartisan Infrastructure Bill requires DART to establish a Safety Committee composed of representatives of frontline employees and management, that is responsible for identifying, recommending, and analyzing the effectiveness of risk-based mitiga...
	Working with the ATU. Local 441, DART had reformulated its Safety Committee to meet the new requirements of equal front line employees and management committee composition.
	Chief among the responsibilities of the safety committee are the following:
	u Identifying safety deficiencies for purposes of continuous improvement.
	8.1.4. Planning Department Activities
	8.1.5. IT Department Activities
	8.1.6. External Affairs Department Activities
	8.1.7. Human Resources Department Activities
	8.1.8. Procurement Department Activities
	8.1.9. Executive Leadership Team Activities
	8.1.10. Transportation Operations Activities
	8.1.11. Facility Maintenance Activities
	8.1.12. Vehicle Maintenance Department Activities
	8.1.13. Risk Management Activities
	8.1.14. Security Activities
	8.1.15. Labor & Employee Relations Activities

	8.2. Safety Hazard Identification, Assessment, and Mitigation
	8.2.1. Hazard Identification and Analysis

	8.3 Risk Reduction Program
	8.4 Exposure to Infectious Diseases

	9. Safety Assurance
	9.1. Rules and Procedures Review
	9.1.1. Safety Related Operations and Maintenance Documents
	9.1.2. Rule Books
	9.1.3. Proficiency Testing – Operators
	9.1.4. Proficiency Testing Test Records and Trend Analysis
	9.1.5. Transit Asset Management

	9.2. Notification Thresholds
	9.2.1. State and Federal Notification
	9.2.2. Safety Department Notifications
	9.2.3. Accident Investigation, Notification, Reporting and Corrective Action Plans

	9.3. Internal Safety Audit Program
	9.4. Procurement and System Modifications
	9.4.1. Contractor Safety Coordination


	10. Safety Promotion
	10.1. Training
	10.1.1. Bus Operator Training
	10.1.2. Bus Maintenance Technician Training
	10.1.3. All Employee Training
	10.1.4. Training Records
	10.1.5. Compliance with Training and Certification Requirements
	10.1.6. Compliance with Local, State, and Federal Safety Requirements

	10.2. Safety Communication
	10.2.1. Marketing and Media Relations Tasks
	10.2.2. Maintenance Toolbox Talks
	10.2.3. Safety Bulletins
	10.2.4. Break Room Monitors
	10.2.5. Safety Posters
	10.2.6. Work Assignment Job Safety Briefings
	10.2.7. Safety Awareness
	10.2.8. Safety Performance Awards
	10.2.9. Hazard, Employee Safe Reporting, and Safety Suggestion Box Feedback


	Once the safety committee picks the monthly safety suggestion winner, all the safety suggestion received for the month, along with a picture of the employee that submitted the winning suggestion will be posted on the Safety Board at DART Way.
	Appendix A
	DART Safety Committee Charter
	Purpose
	Scope
	Structure
	Roles and Responsibilities
	Appendix B – DART Organization Chart




